
There is an induction hearing loop system available in all meeting rooms.  Some of the 
systems are infra-red operated, if you wish to use this system then please contact 
Jane Webb on 01733 452281 as soon as possible.

AB
PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 24 JANUARY 2017
1.30 PM

Council Chamber - Town Hall

AGENDA
Page No

1. Apologies for Absence

2. Declarations of Interest

At this point Members must declare whether they have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest, or other interest, in any of the items on the agenda, 
unless it is already entered in the register of members’ interests or is a 
“pending notification” that has been disclosed to the Monitoring Officer.

3. Members' Declaration of intention to make representations as Ward 
Councillor

4. Minutes of the Meeting Held on 29 November 2016 5 - 10

5. Development Control and Enforcement Matters

5.1 16/01498/FUL - Golden Lion 5 - 7 Church Street, Stanground, 
Peterborough

11 - 32

5.2 16/02087/HHFUL - Forge Cottage, 10 The Green, Glinton, 
Peterborough

33 - 40

5.3 16/02184/R4FUL - Car Park, Hampton Court, Westwood, 
Peterborough

41 - 64

5.4 16/02191/HHFUL - 195 Broadway, Peterborough, PE1 4DS 65 - 72

Public Document Pack



Emergency Evacuation Procedure – Outside Normal Office Hours

In the event of the fire alarm sounding all persons should vacate the building by way of the nearest escape 
route and proceed directly to the assembly point in front of the Cathedral.  The duty Beadle will assume 
overall control during any evacuation, however in the unlikely event the Beadle is unavailable, this 
responsibility will be assumed by the Committee Chair.

Recording of Council Meetings: Any member of the public may film, audio-record, take photographs and use 
social media to report the proceedings of any meeting that is open to the public. A protocol on this facility is 
available at: 

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recor
ding&ID=690&RPID=2625610&sch=doc&cat=13385&path=13385

Committee Members:

Councillors: C Harper (Chairman), L Serluca (Vice Chairman), Bull, G Casey, P Hiller, J Stokes, 
S Martin, Sylvester, Bond, Clark and C Ash

Substitutes: Councillors: Bisby, Iqbal, N Sandford and B Saltmarsh

Further information about this meeting can be obtained from Jane Webb on telephone 452281 or 
by email – jane.webb@peterborough.gov.uk

http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recording&ID=690&RPID=2625610&sch=doc&cat=13385&path=13385
http://democracy.peterborough.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Protocol%20on%20the%20use%20of%20Recording&ID=690&RPID=2625610&sch=doc&cat=13385&path=13385


CASE OFFICERS:

Planning and Development Team: Nicholas Harding, Lee Collins, Paul Smith, Mike Roberts, 
Janet Maclennan, David Jolley, Louise Lovegrove, Vicky 
Hurrell, Sundas Shaban, Amanda McSherry, Sam Falco, Matt 
Thomson, Chris Edwards, Michael Freeman, Jack Gandy, 
Jim Daley

Minerals and Waste: Theresa Nicholl, Alan Jones

Compliance: Nigel Barnes, Anthony Whittle, Karen Cole, Julie Robshaw

NOTES:

1. Any queries on completeness or accuracy of reports should be raised with the Case Officer 
or Head of Planning, Transport and Engineering Services as soon as possible.

2. The purpose of location plans is to assist Members in identifying the location of the site.  
Location plans may not be up-to-date, and may not always show the proposed development.  

3. These reports take into account the Council's equal opportunities policy but have no 
implications for that policy, except where expressly stated.

4. The background papers for planning applications are the application file plus any documents 
specifically referred to in the report itself.

5. These reports may be updated orally at the meeting if additional relevant information is 
received after their preparation.



This page is intentionally left blank



AB
    MINUTES OF THE PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION COMMITTEE 

HELD AT THE TOWN HALL, PETERBOROUGH ON 29 SEPTEMBER 2016

Members Present: Councillors Harper (Chairman), Serluca (Vice Chairman), Bull, Casey, 
Hiller, Stokes, Martin, Clark, and Ash

Officers Present:  Lee Collins, Development Management Manager
Matt Thomson, Senior Development Management Officer
Amanda Nauth, Planning and Highways Lawyer 
Simon Ireland, Principal Engineer (Highways)
Pippa Turvey, Senior Democratic Services Officer
Jane Webb, Senior Democratic Services Officer

1. Apologies for Absence

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Bond and Sylvester.

2. Declarations of Interest

Councillor Hiller, in relation to agenda item 5.1 ‘St Theresa’s House, Manor House 
Street, Peterborough, PE1 2TL’ wished it to be noted that comments had been made 
by the local MP that the Committee was predetermined on this application. This was 
considered to be unfounded, and it was further noted that no formal complaint as 
such had been lodged.

No declarations of interest were received.

3.    Members’ Declaration of intention to make representations as Ward Councillor

No Members’ declaration of intention to make representations as Ward Councillors 
were received.

4.    Minutes of the Meeting Held on 27 September 2016

The minutes of the meeting held on 27 September 2016 were approved as a correct 
record.

5. Development Control and Enforcement Matters

5.1 16/01496/FUL – St Theresa’s House, Manor House Street, Peterborough, PE1 
2TL

The Committee was presented with an application for the conversion of St Theresa’s 
House, Manor House Street, into 12 bedsitting rooms.

The Development Management Manager provided an overview of the application and 
highlighted a number of key issues within the report and update report. 

5



Carole Aldous and Margaret Randall, local residents, addressed the Committee in 
objection to the application and responded to questions from Members. In summary 
the key points highlighted included:

 It was considered that this application would double the number of cars using 
the access road. 

 This was a new application. It was felt, therefore, that the past use of the site 
was not relevant. 

 Objection was made on planning rules grounds.
 The site had a long established history of parking issues and parking services 

had been approach in relation to the problem. 
 The parking crisis would be exacerbated by the introduction of a House of 

Multiple Occupation (HMO). 
 The close vicinity of the site to the city centre and high demand forced people, 

it was claimed, to park elsewhere.
 Residents frequently complained to the Council about the parking situation.
 An increase in the intensification of use of the site as living space would bring 

the parking problem to crisis level. 

Paul Sharman, Sharman Architecture, addressed the Committee in support of the 
application and responded to questions from Members. In summary the key points 
highlighted included:

 A perceived sticking point of the application had been how the potential 
parking problems could be overcome. 

 The applicant wished to alleviate the concerns of local residents in this 
regard.

 It was considered that the introduction of HMO’s to an area were not 
generally welcomed.

 The building was of local important, and this was acknowledged by the 
applicant as a key factor in the proposals.

 Adequate parking and waste storage would be provided.
 The applicant wished to improve the area with a development that was 

considered necessary, not cause detriment.
 The historic façade of the building would be cleaned and conserved as best 

as possible. 
 It was considered by the agent that although the bedrooms would each have 

access to their own bathroom, they would share and kitchen and were, as 
such, HMO’s.

In response to questions from the Committee the Development Management 
Manager clarified that as the proposals comprised separate bathrooms, that they 
were considered bedsits rather than an HMO. Whether the proposals was an HMO or 
not was not a material planning consideration. 

The Council’s parking standards required one space per bedroom, with visitor 
parking required at a discretionary level. The two visitor spaces provided within the 
application had been judged by officers as acceptable. 

The Development Management Manager advised the Committee that confirmation 
had been received from Parking Services that no permits would be provided to new 
residents or visitors. The width of the access was considered to be sub-standard, 
however was within the existing development. 

The Principal Engineer (Highways) advised that, with the provision of controlled 
access arrangements the Highways Authority did not object to the application. It was 

6



further explained that such arrangements would comprise an access barrier at one 
and to ensure that two cars would not enter the access road at the same time. 
Sufficient space had been identified to allow for one car to wait off the highway ahead 
of the access gate. The provision of such arrangements were not included within the 
recommendation, however, could be added should the Committee wish.

In response to a question the Principal Engineer (Highways) confirmed that no traffic 
incidents had been recorded on the site. 

The Committee were further advised that, although the application was substantially 
the same that had been previously considered and refused, the current application 
benefited from a greater level of parking availability, due to the change of use of a 
neighbouring property. As such, the Council’s parking standards had been met.

The Committee discussed the application and acknowledged the depth of feeling 
among local residents. Members were reassured that the locally listed characteristics 
of the building would remain. The poor standing of the current access point was 
noted, however as this was part of the existing scheme, no alteration to this could be 
required. The parking provisions were acceptable as adhering to the Council’s 
parking policy. It was requested that officers monitor the situation with the access.

The Committee considered that the site was currently available for use as a funeral 
parlour and could hold up to 35 people and staff.

It was suggested that a condition be included within any permission granted that a 
access barrier system be installed to help regulate access.

A motion was proposed and seconded to agree that permission be granted, as per 
officer recommendation with an additional condition securing an access barrier 
system for entry and egress. The motion was carried seven voting in favour, and two 
voting against.

RESOLVED: (seven voted in favour and two voted against) that planning permission 
is GRANTED subject to:

1) The conditions set out in the Committee Report; and
2) An additional condition to secure the implementation of an access barrier system 

to regulate entry and egress from the rear car park.

Reasons for the decision:

Subject to the imposition of the attached conditions, the proposal was acceptable 
having been assessed in the light of all material considerations, including weighing 
against relevant policies of the development plan and specifically:

- The proposed development would go towards providing additional residential 
development within the City Centre by 2026, therefore the proposal accords 
with Policies CS1 and CS2 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011); 

- The proposed change of use and external alterations would not unacceptably 
harm the character or appearance of the locally listed building or street scene, 
and would preserve the setting of the Conservation Area. The proposal would 
therefore accord with Policies CS16 and CS17 of the Peterborough Core 
Strategy DPD (2011) and Policies PP2 and PP17 of the Peterborough 
Policies DPD (2012); 

- The proposed change of use would not unacceptably harm the amenity of 

7



adjoining neighbours, and would ensure satisfactory living conditions for 
future occupiers, and therefore accords with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough 
Core Strategy DPD (2011) and PP3 and PP4 of the Peterborough Policies 
DPD (2012); and

- The proposal would not result in a highway safety hazard and sufficient car 
parking can be provided thereby according with Policies PP12 and PP13 of 
the Peterborough Policies DPD (2012).

5.2 Urgent Report – 15/01840/OUT – Land to the West of Uffington Road, Barnack, 
Stamford

The Committee was presented with an application to withdraw the archaeology 
reason for refusal on an outline application for up to 80 residential dwellings and 
associated works on land to the west of Uffington Road, Barnack, Stamford.

This report was presented to the Committee as an urgent item, with the permission of 
the Chairman, as an expedient decision would ensure that cost would be less likely to 
be award against the Council as result of an appeal.

The Development Management Manager provided an overview of the application and 
highlighted a number of key issues within the report. 

In response to questions from the Committee the Development Management 
Manager clarified that an archaeological desk based assessment had been submitted 
and it had been concluded that any remains on the sight would likely be of local or 
regional significance only. If the reason for refusal was maintained, it could be 
considered as unreasonable. 

A motion was proposed and seconded to agree that permission be granted, as per 
officer recommendation. The motion was carried unanimously.

RESOLVED: (unanimous) that:

1) Reason for refusal R6 of application 15/01840/OUT be withdrawn and instead the 
archaeological investigation and mitigation be dealt with by way of a suitably 
worded planning condition; and

2) In the event that the applicants were not agreeable to addressing archaeology by 
way of condition authority be delegated to the Head of Planning to liaise with 
Counsel and take the most appropriate course of action in dealing with 
archaeology.

Reasons for the decision:

It was considered that the archaeological site investigation and any associated 
mitigation be dealt with by way of a suitably worded planning condition, and as such 
officers would not defend the archaeological reason for refusal R6 in their case at the 
Public Inquiry.

6. Planning Compliance Quarterly Report on Activity and Performance July to 
September 2016

The Development Management Manager and the Compliance Team Leader 
presented a report to the Committee, which outlined the Planning Service’s planning 
compliance performance and activity, and identified if there were any lessons to be 
learnt from the actions taken.

8



The Committee discussed the report and raised several key points:
 The Planning Contravention Notices at 66 St Mary’s Avenue, Wittering and 52 

Eastfield Road related to requests for information. These would allow the 
Council to identify the owners or occupiers of the property. They were not 
necessarily enforcement notices requiring action.

 On average, 30-40% of complaints received by the team were well founded. 
 The Committee congratulated the team on their continued high performance.

RESOLVED that the Committee noted past performance and outcomes.

Reasons for the decision:

To help inform future decisions of the Planning and Environmental Protection 
Committee and potentially reduce costs.

Chairman
1.30pm – 2:52pm

9



This page is intentionally left blank

10



11



This page is intentionally left blank

12



1

Item 1

Planning and EP Committee 24 January 2017

Application Ref: 16/01498/FUL 

Proposal: Demolition of existing public house to be replaced by a ground floor retail 
unit and four residential flats (3 x 1-bed and 1 x 2-bed) at first floor

Site: Golden Lion, 5 - 7 Church Street, Stanground, Peterborough
Applicant: Mr Thievanayagam Sivarajah

Agent: Mr David Smith, Waterland Associates

Referred by: Councillors Clarke and Lillis
Reason: Highway safety concern, and accessibility for disabled residents

Site visit: 12.08.2016 and 14.01.2017

Case officer: Miss Louise Lovegrove
Telephone No. 01733 454439
E-Mail: louise.lovegrove@peterborough.gov.uk

Recommendation: GRANT subject to relevant conditions  

1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal

Site and Surroundings
The application site comprises a two storey detached public house located in a prominent position 
within the streetscene at the junction of South Street and Church Street in Stanground. The 
building fronts onto Church Street and is set back from the public highway by way of an area of 
hardstanding. There is a large car park to the side of the property which extends up to the 
boundary of South Street and includes a section in front of the residential dwellings to the rear of 
the site (Nos.15-25 South Street). 

To the rear of the building is a semi-enclosed patio area with smoking shelter and a large detached 
brick built garage and smaller shed. There is parking for occupants of the public house, along with 
delivery access, provided to the north of the property.  There is an existing residential unit at first 
floor, associated with the public house. 

The surrounding area is predominantly residential albeit there are a number of commercial and 
business uses in close proximity, including vehicle sales, a tattoo parlour and hot food takeaway.  
The application site is situated within the identified Stanground Conservation Area. 

Proposal
The application seeks planning permission to demolish the existing public house (Use Class A4 
drinking establishment) and in its place, construct a two storey detached building comprising a 
retail unit at ground floor (Use Class A1) and 4no. residential flats at first floor (Use Class C3).  The 
residential units are proposed to be of a mix of 3no. 1-bed units and 1no. 2-bed unit.  In addition, 
associated external works are proposed, including formalisation and extension of the existing car 
park, closure of the existing car park vehicular access onto Church Street, and construction of a 
new vehicular access to the car park from South Street.  

It should be noted that the scheme has been amended from that which was originally submitted to 
address comments made by the Local Highway Authority and Officers.

13



2

2 Planning History

Reference Proposal Decision Date
P0858/77 Extension to Public House for a Pool Table 

Room
Permitted 24/11/1977

P0303/82/R Extension and alterations to public house Permitted 20/05/1982
97/00662/FUL Ground floor extension as amended by 

drawing numbers 97044/AL002 and 
97044/AL003

Permitted 08/10/1997

07/01984/FUL Smoking shelter to side Permitted 25/02/2008
14/02161/FUL Change of use from public house to 

community centre
Withdrawn 
by Applicant 

24/02/2015

3 Planning Policy

Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990

Section 72 - General duty as respects conservation areas in exercise of planning functions. 
The Local Planning Authority has a statutory duty to have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the Conservation Area or its setting, or any features of special architectural or historic 
interest which it possesses.

National Planning Policy Framework (2012)

Section 2 - Retail Development Outside Town Centres 
A sequential test should be applied to applications (except in relation to applications for small scale 
rural offices or other development). Proposals which fail the sequential test or would have an 
adverse impact should be refused.

Section 12 - Conservation of Heritage Assets 
Account should be taken of the desirability of sustaining/enhancing heritage assets; the positive 
contribution that they can make to sustainable communities including economic viability; and the 
desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local character and 
distinctiveness.  When considering the impact of a new development great weight should be given 
to the asset’s conservation.  

Planning permission should be refused for development which would lead to substantial harm to or 
total loss of significance unless this is necessary to achieve public benefits that outweigh the 
harm/loss.  In such cases all reasonable steps should be taken to ensure the new development will 
proceed after the harm/ loss has occurred.

Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011)

CS01 - Settlement Hierarchy and the Countryside 
The location/ scale of new development should accord with the settlement hierarchy. Development 
in the countryside will be permitted only where key criteria are met.

CS14 - Transport 
Promotes a reduction in the need to travel, sustainable transport, the Council’s UK Environment 
Capital aspirations and development which would improve the quality of environments for 
residents.

CS15 - Retail 

14



3

Development should accord with the Retail Strategy which seeks to promote the City Centre and 
where appropriate the district and local centres. The loss of village shops will only be accepted 
subject to certain conditions being met.

CS16 - Urban Design and the Public Realm 
Design should be of high quality, appropriate to the site and area, improve the public realm, 
address vulnerability to crime, be accessible to all users and not result in any unacceptable impact 
upon the amenities of neighbouring residents.

CS17 - The Historic Environment 
Development should protect, conserve and enhance the historic environment including non-
scheduled nationally important features and buildings of local importance.

Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012)

PP02 - Design Quality 
Permission will only be granted for development which makes a positive contribution to the built 
and natural environment; does not have a detrimental effect on the character of the area; is 
sufficiently robust to withstand/adapt to climate change; and is designed for longevity.

PP03 - Impacts of New Development 
Permission will not be granted for development which would result in an unacceptable loss of 
privacy, public and/or private green space or natural daylight; be overbearing or cause noise or 
other disturbance, odour or other pollution; fail to minimise opportunities for crime and disorder.

PP04 - Amenity Provision in New Residential Development 
Proposals for new residential development should be designed and located to ensure that they 
provide for the needs of the future residents.

PP09 - Development for Retail and Leisure Uses 
A sequential approach will be applied to retail and leisure development. Retail development 
outside Primary Shopping Areas or leisure development outside any centre will be refused unless 
the requirements of Policy CS15 of the Core Strategy have been satisfied or compliance with the 
sequential approach has been demonstrated.

PP12 - The Transport Implications of Development 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate provision has been made for safe access by all user 
groups and there would not be any unacceptable impact on the transportation network including 
highway safety.

PP13 - Parking Standards 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate parking provision for all modes of transport is made 
in accordance with standards.

PP17 - Heritage Assets 
Development which would affect a heritage asset will be required to preserve and enhance the 
significance of the asset or its setting.  Development which would have detrimental impact will be 
refused unless there are overriding public benefits.

Peterborough Local Plan 2016 to 2036 (Preliminary Draft)
This document sets out the planning policies against which development will be assessed. It will 
bring together all the current Development Plan Documents into a single document. Consultation 
on this document runs from December 2016 until 9 February 2017.
 
At this preliminary stage the polices cannot be afforded any weight with the exception of the 
calculation relating to the five year land supply as this is based upon the updated Housing Needs 
Assessment and sites which have planning permission or which are subject to a current 

15



4

application. Individual policies are not therefore referred to further in this report.
4 Consultations/Representations

Archaeological Officer (04.01.17)
No objections – The application site is located within the core of the historic village of Stanground.  
Previous archaeological evaluation surrounding the site found activity dated from the 10-12th 
centuries and Roman, Anglo-Saxon, Viking and medieval finds have been reported in the area.  
Whilst the site is likely to have witnessed truncation, earlier remains may survive in undisturbed 
pockets of land.  A condition requiring archaeological monitoring of all groundwork entailing deep 
excavations is requested. 

PCC Transport & Engineering Services (12.01.17)
Objection – The proposal represents intensification of a substandard delivery access (owing to 
inadequate visibility splays and turning space).  It would not provide adequate on-site parking for 
staff and customer vehicles for the retail unit, or residents’ cycle parking.  The proposal would not 
provide adequate facilities within the site for the turning, loading and unloading of delivery vehicles.  
Accordingly, the proposal would pose a danger to the safety and free flow of traffic on the adjoining 
public highway.  

Building Control Manager (28.10.16)
Building Regulations approval required.  Part M relating to disabled requirements also applicable.  
No toilet accommodation is provided to the retail unit.  Bin storage does not appear adequate for 
the residential units.  

PCC Conservation Officer (03.11.16)
No objections – There is no objection to the demolition of the current building as it offers, at best, a 
neutral contribution to the Conservation Area.  The scale, form and detailing of the proposed 
replacement building responds sympathetically to the site context by logically responding to the 
building grain and providing uniformity to the east side of South Street.  The overall detailing is key 
and as such, request a number of conditions. 

PCC Pollution Team 
No comments received.

Cambridgeshire Fire & Rescue Service 
No comments received.

Police Architectural Liaison Officer (PALO) (03.01.17)
No objections – Details regarding access control to the apartments, gating and lighting are required 
but could be secured by condition.  

Waste Management (05.01.17)
More information required – The level of bin provision is unclear.  The proposed bin store needs to 
be large enough for at least 4 x 360L bins (2 of each waste stream) plus a communal food waste 
bin. The commercial bin store is likely to be too small for the establishment. Retail units require 
5000 litres per 1000m gross floor space and a minimum 1/3 of total capacity must be allocated for 
recyclables.

Local Residents/Interested Parties 

Initial consultations: 121
Total number of responses: 76
Total number of objections: 71
Total number in support: 1

A total of 69 no. objection letters have been received from local residents raising the following 
concerns:

16



5

 Why would you consider taking away a beautiful building, with history, to replace it with 
another modern monstrosity that will greet anyone who enters the village of Stanground?

 Parking needs to be addressed in this area, which will be worsened if another retail outlet is 
allowed to open in this part of the village.  

 Church Street and South Street have sever parking issues so should the Council not be 
tackling this issue before allowing more traffic for the buses to dodge and manoeuvre around?

 Church Street was not built to take the amount of traffic it currently does, and residents that 
live on this road suffer with the amount of parking and road congestion.  It is an accident 
waiting to happen.  

 The plans still require delivery access onto Church Street.  This is not possible, as the public 
house beer deliveries were by a large HGV that had to swing out onto the opposite side of the 
road where it would access the main car park and deliver barrels by rolling them across the 
front of the pub and down the side access.  Surely this shows that a delivery vehicle cannot 
access the area shown on the plans?

 Do not object to the development but do object to the delivery access.  The Highway Officer 
clearly states that the delivery vehicles must be able to arrive and leave in a forward gear but 
there appears to be total disregard for this.  

 The Highway Officer also states that a business of this size would not be serviced by just 
delivery vans, but instead a HGV. Church Street is far too busy and narrow, and buses already 
struggle to navigate this area.  

 Where to these vehicles stop while waiting to gain access?  Other businesses have their 
accesses next door as well as the bus stop on Church Street causing an obstruction.  

 The delivery access proposed on Church Street ignores the current parking outside the Fish 
and Chip Shop.  This parking will prevent the vehicle swing indicated. 

 The Church Street/South Street junction is already a busy bus route, one that already 
becomes obstructed preventing two way flow.  Adding another car park entrance opposite the 
South Street bus stop, whilst reducing the parking for residents who live there, will block this 
route further.  

 Creating a wholly inadequate commercial vehicle entrance onto Church Street will lead to the 
delivery lorries being abandoned on the pavement whilst being unloaded, further hindering the 
bus route and access for emergency services.  

 A risk assessment should be carried out in this area to asses show to reduce the current 
parking issues prior to allowing a new retail outlet to open at the major junction.  

 The area adjacent to the Golden Lion is a nightmare for traffic.  There are occasions where the 
traffic is stationary on Fletton High Street, Whittlesey Road and Fletton Avenue, all due to 
current issues around this area, particularly lack of parking.  The addition of a retail unit would 
simply make it worse.  

 The service vehicle access would be hazardous to pedestrians, particularly school children.  
 Please consider business in the area that are trying to make a living.  What will happen if more 

and more convenience shops keep opening?  Does the village need this retail outlet?
 When the pub was open, residents would park in the car park which mostly freed up the road 

from parked cars.  Since the pub has closed, access to this car park has been removed and 
there are at least 8 cars at any one time between the junction of Church Street and the bridge 
before the mini-roundabout.  

 The boundary with Church Street shows the building right up to the public pavement at two 
storey height which will limit visibility in either direction of the road traffic.  

 There is inadequate parking for such a combined retail and residential unit. 
 Who will police the delivery vehicle to make sure it uses the designated area?
 Anyone who says that there will be less traffic than when the building was a pub obviously 

does not know what they are talking about.  
 The proposal does not provide adequate resident parking.  The North side of South Street is 

full of parked cars and vans at the beginning and end of the working day, including on the 
double yellow lines. Where would these vehicles now park? There is no space in either South 
Street or Church Street.

 To have a delivery vehicle reversing into the site from Church Street would pose an 
impediment to the free flow of traffic on Church Street (and therefore also on South Street), 

17



6

and a significant danger to pedestrians and other road users.  
 It would seem that, apart from concerns over signage, nothing has changed from the last 

scheme.  Am I correct to assume that the development would no longer include 5 flats? Would 
the window above the delivery access be a further 'dummy’ window?

 There is no need for another shop in the local vicinity, with there being two small shops within 
2 minutes walk and a supermarket 5 minutes away. 

 The proposal is a waste of the site which should be turned into something useful, like 
somewhere for the youngsters of Stanground to go.  

 The proposed retail unit will have a significant negative impact on the existing convenience 
store on Chapel Street which is invaluable to the local community. 

 Thought the Golden Lion was a listed building, how can anyone do this?
 Why can’t the Golden Lion be converted into flats? Is there not a shortage of homes available 

in Peterborough?
 The service access would create a noise disturbance to local houses and headlights will shine 

directly into homes.
 The photograph of the location at the beginning of the Transport Statement in support of the 

application is out of date and highly misleading, showing as it does cars parked on the area to 
become the supermarket car park (shut off a considerable time ago) and no cars parked on 
either South Street or Church Street.

 The new access would remove on-street parking spaces.  Where will residents be left with to 
park?

 Approve of the application to demolish and build flats, but not the creation of a retail unit.  
 Local residents were not made aware of the application.  
 Presumably, an assessment was undertaken to determine what problems would be created 

with parking and the free movement of general traffic, public transport, refuse collection lorries 
and, importantly, emergency vehicles.  If so, were these results made publicly available and 
where can they be viewed?

 This part of Stanground is the old village and it is felt that a new modern development would 
spoil this and lose some of the character.  

 I (resident of South Street) am having to park down Chapel Street which is wrong.  I should be 
able to park down my own street.  If they change the entrance to the car park this situation will 
be even worse.  

 The owner has already sealed off the public car park which has prevented emergency vehicles 
and utility companied from getting to the front of my house (South Street).  

 A parking space would be right outside by house (South Street) which they could park a van or 
other high sided vehicle in.  This would block light to my front window.  It would also make 
access by the fire service more difficult and prevent safe escape in the event of a fire.  

 Where will residents put there bins once the new access goes in?
 Is the Developer going to provide a pedestrian crossing for customers to cross the road 

safely?
 The community has already lost lots of facilities, through the loss of the Polish Club for 

entertainment, Coneygree Lodge for the elderly and play centre in Thistle Drive.  
 These old, but sound, buildings add character to the old part of Stanground and should be 

retained.  
 Don’t want to lose the Fish and Chip shop which will be in direct competition with the proposed 

Subway. 
 The existing pub has people living upstairs like squatters, leaving rubbish outside.  If these 

flats were to be built, there would be further over-occupancy and on a much bigger scale.  The 
houses would not be for UK nationals, and key workers which is what Britain badly needs.  

 There are no plans for any dual use of the site.  Demolishing another British pub which was a 
cultural hub and meeting point would not be in the interests of local residents.  

 If the developer is looking for work, why not also demolish the terraced row of Victorian 
cottages adjacent to the Golden Lion and replace them with residential dwellings in keeping 
with the 21st century?

One local resident has raised neither objection nor support to the proposal, but has raised the 

18



7

following:
 Whilst the proposal is probably the best solution, there is concern regarding the quantity of off-

road parking to be provided.  Currently cars parked along South Street abuse the parking 
restrictions because it is not ‘policed’.  The development of a retail unit plus apartments will 
only exaggerate this problem unless adequate off-street parking is provided. 

 The parking in South Street already makes turning from Church Street hazardous, so again 
the provision of parking on the new development is vital for safety.  

Two local residents have made comments in support of the proposal subject to proper traffic 
management and parking measures being in place.  

Councillor Clarke has raised objection to the proposal on the following grounds:
 The locality of the application site is an area that has always been a place where businesses 

and residents have co-operated to ensure that the impact of traffic to pedestrians is minimised.  
This has recently been discarded by the new owner of the site.  

 The site access for a delivery lorry is in a Conservation Area and next to a bus stop on the 
right-side and a telegraph pole on the left-side.  

 The proposed car park access is too close to the BT cabinet and streetlight, and too near the 
junction of Church Street and the bend on South Street.  

 There is a school in Chapel Street, and there are a lot of parents who walk their children to 
school.  This is a big problem at the moment but with more traffic will be very bad. 

 The car garage was not allowed a car transporter to deliver to its yard so how can they have a 
delivery point in Church Street?

 I cannot see how this site could function.  As it is planned, there are going to be significant 
issued created.

 The building is very significant and overdevelopment for the corner plot. 
 Assessment of the Church Street/South Street Junction needs to happen before any 

development occurs.  
 There is no need for any more shops like this in Stanground as there are already 6 or 7 within 

a mile and a half of each other.  

Councillor Lillis requested that the application be referred to Committee but did not provide any 
comments on the proposal.  

5 Assessment of the planning issues

The main considerations are:
 Principle of development
 Design and impact upon the character and appearance of the surrounding area, including 

designated heritage assets
 Parking, access and highway implications
 Neighbour amenity
 Future occupant amenity

a) Principle of development

Fall-back position
As detailed in Section 1 above, the application site is presently in lawful use as a public house 
(Class A4) and has been for a considerable number of years.  However, under the provisions of 
Part 3 Class A of Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) 
Order 2015, there is a permitted right to convert such uses to Class A1 (retail) or Class A2 
(financial/professional services) without the need for planning permission from the Local Planning 
Authority.  The only restriction in terms of this, is the requirement to submit a notification seeking 
clarification as to whether or not the building is nominated (i.e. a community related asset).  

The application site is not currently a registered community related asset and nor has any 

19



8

application to this effect been received by the Council.  Accordingly, it would be permitted for the 
site to change use to an A1 retail unit without the need for planning permission and on this basis, 
the principle of such a use is established. 

Retail use
The application site is located outside of any identified District or Local Centres.  Under the 
provisions of Policy CS15 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP9 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012), a sequential approach should be taken in terms of 
the location of new retail development, with outside identified centres being least preferable.  

In normal circumstances, there would be a requirement for the Applicant to undertake an 
assessment of all sites within and adjacent to identified Local Centres, to demonstrate that there 
are no more sequentially preferable sites on which the proposed development could be 
accommodated.  However, in light of the fall-back position it is considered that this is not necessary 
or that a reason for refusal on this basis could be sustained at appeal.  

Loss of the public house
Paragraph 70 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012) highlights that planning decisions 
should '...guard against the unnecessary loss of valued facilities and services, particularly where 
this would reduce the community's ability to meet its day-to-day needs...'. Local residents have 
previously expressed their concern in relation to the harmful impact that the loss of the public 
house would have upon the local community.  In particular, they have expressed concern that the 
loss of the Golden Lion would erode the cultural heritage of its users. These concerns are noted 
however there are a number of open public houses serving the Stanground area and, in particular, 
two within walking distance of the application site. The locations of these nearby public houses are 
shown on the map at Appendix A.

Notwithstanding the above, the fall-back position must also be taken into consideration.  Given that 
planning permission is not required for the public house to be converted to an alternative use, it is 
not considered that the loss of such a facility can be a key consideration in the determination of this 
planning application.  

b) Design and impact upon the character and appearance of the surrounding area, 
including designated heritage assets

As detailed in Section 1 above, the application site is located within the identified Stanground 
Conservation Area.  Under the provisions of Section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990, there is a statutory duty to ensure that all new development 
preserves or enhances the features for which this asset has been designated.  This is further 
reinforced through both national and local planning policy which attaches significant weight to this 
need.  

It is considered that the site is located in a prominent position within the Conservation Area.  It is 
located at the prominent junction of South Street and Church Street, which forms the principal 
entrances into the Conservation Area.  The existing public house is of red brick construction and 
dates from the mid-1900s.  Its principal elevation is to Church Street with little architectural interest 
to the South Street elevation.  A single storey rear element aligns the building line of the site with 
the two storey residential terraced dwellings along South Street however notwithstanding this, the 
existing building does appear an awkward feature within the streetscene.  It is the position of the 
City Council’s Conservation Officer that the existing site offers, at best, a neutral contribution to the 
features of the Conservation Area and on this basis, the demolition of the public house is 
supported.   

The proposal seeks to construct a replacement building on the site which is considered to better 
respond to its context.  The scale, form and detailing of the proposal are considered by the 
Conservation officer to sympathetically respond to the site and its surroundings, and as such would 
make a positive contribution to the Conservation Area.  It is proposed for the building to follow the 
building line and scale of the existing terraced dwellings on South Street, and introduce a new two 

20



9

storey terrace form to the Church Street frontage.  The Conservation officer considers that this is a 
logical response to the grain of buildings in the locality, and would provide uniformity to the built 
form along the east side of South Street.  

Notwithstanding the above, the Conservation Officer has advised that it is important to ensure that 
the overall detailing of the building is correct for it to be convincing and fit within the streetscene.  
Accordingly, there are some alterations which are requested to achieve this, namely: alteration of 
the ‘false’ windows to either side of the dummy door to South Street so that they are genuine; 
introduction of vertical mullions to the 4no. large glass windows to the South Street elevations (to 
match the shop windows to Church Street; and addition of a date stone to both street elevations.  It 
is considered that these alterations could readily be secured by condition to ensure an acceptable 
final appearance of the development.  

In addition, the Conservation Officer has expressed concern with regards to the level of 
advertisement indicatively shown on the submitted drawings.  These concerns are noted, as the 
level of signage shown does appear excessive and out of keeping with the overall appearance of 
the building.  However, the signage would be subject to a separate application under the provisions 
of the Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) Regulations 2007 (as amended) 
and such matters would form consideration of any application submitted in the future.  The current 
proposal could not be resisted on this basis.  

Subject to the imposition of the requested conditions, and conditions relating to the finishing 
materials, it is considered that the proposal would enhance the character, appearance and visual 
amenity of the streetscene and the features for which the Conservation Area has been designated.  
Accordingly, the proposal is in accordance with Section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990, Policies CS16 and CS17 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD 
(2011) and Policies PP2, PP11 and PP17 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).  

c) Parking, access and highway implications

Parking provision
It is noted that a large proportion of the objections received relate to the loss of publicly available 
parking as many local residents either use or have used the existing car park in the past.  At 
present, the existing car park is privately owned and not public, therefore it could be closed (as it 
has been) at any time without any breach of planning regulations.  None of the objectors have 
provided any evidence that a private right of parking/access has been established lawfully and as 
such, the loss of the existing car park for use by neighbouring local residents is not a material 
planning consideration. 

In terms of the level of parking proposed, overall the scheme seeks to provide 21no. parking 
spaces.  These are proposed to be split to provide 5no. allocated spaces for the proposed 
residential units (occupants) and the remaining 16no. spaces for the proposed ground floor retail 
unit (both staff and customers) and visitor parking.  It is proposed for this parking layout to be 
formally laid out through appropriate lining and signage.  

In terms of the parking associated with the residential units, 4no. of the spaces will be provided to 
the rear of the building, accessed via a gated access which will separate them from the main retail 
car park.  1no. space would be provided within the main car park, however it is proposed for this to 
be secured by a lockable rising bollard to prevent unauthorised parking.  This level of parking 
accords with the minimum parking standards set out in Policy PP13 of the Peterborough Planning 
Policies DPD (2012).  

With regards to the parking provision for the proposed retail unit, the proposal would provide for a 
maximum of 274qsm of gross floor space (this excludes the store/admin/welfare area and food 
preparation area).  Under the adopted parking standards, the maximum number of spaces that 
could be accepted for this level of floorspace (based upon a foodstore use) would be 19 spaces 
however it is acknowledged that the LHA bases their parking requirement on all floor space 

21



10

(including the store etc.) which increases this maximum provision to 29 (the level of parking the 
LHA considers is necessary).  

Whilst it is noted that the proposal would provide less than this maximum, it should also be noted 
that under the current adopted parking standards, the existing public house (with a floorspace of 
485sqm) would generate a maximum parking requirement of 32no. spaces.  These are clearly not 
presently provided as the site provides only 17no. spaces.  Furthermore, taking into account the 
fall-back position, the proposal represents a decrease of potential retail floorspace, and thus a 
reduced parking demand.  Taking into account these other parking requirements, it is not 
considered that the deficiency of parking proposed could be sustained as a reason for refusal at 
appeal and in any case, they are maximum standards.  

Finally, with regards to visitor parking associated with the proposed residential units, it is 
considered appropriate for this to be provided within the main retail unit car park.  Even this 
additional parking space requirement (1 space) would not reduce the level of available retail car 
parking to an unacceptable level.  

Accordingly, it is considered that the proposal would provide adequate on-site parking provision to 
meet the needs generated by the development and would not give rise to unacceptable parking 
demand on the surrounding public highway network.  

Parking access
The proposal seeks to close the existing car park access onto Church Street and provide a new 
access onto South Street.  With regards to closure of the existing access, this is supported by the 
LHA.  A condition would be required to ensure that the finish and form of the closure (i.e. 
reinstating the public footway) is to an acceptable standard to ensure safety for all users.  

In terms of the proposed new vehicular access, a considerable number of the objections received 
have raised concerns regarding its safety.  These concerns relate to the proximity of the access in 
terms of the busy junction of South Street with Church Street, conflict with the bus stop to the 
opposite side of South Street, conflict with buses using the highway and loss of on-street parking 
capacity.  The position of this access has been amended from the originally submitted scheme and 
is accepted by the LHA.  It is considered that it would not pose an unacceptable danger in terms of 
conflict with the adjacent junction, and is located a sufficient distance from the bus stop to prevent 
undue conflict.  As the proposal would be of a simple dropped kerb arrangement, priority would still 
be retained to users of the public highway and vehicles exiting the car park would have to wait, 
queuing into the site, to exit once there is a clear space.  

In addition to the above, the proposed new access is considered to be of an adequate width to 
meet the needs of users.  It would provide adequate space for two vehicles to pass, allowing 
vehicles to enter the site without impediment.  Adequate vehicle-to-vehicle and vehicle-to-
pedestrian visibility splays would also be provided despite the location of the existing telegraph 
pole.  

On this basis, the proposed new access would not pose an unacceptable danger to highway safety 
and is therefore in accordance with Policy CS14 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) 
and Policy PP12 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012). 

Servicing
The proposal seeks to provide a service access to the northern-most corner of the site, in the same 
position as the existing public house service access.  The LHA does not accept this arrangement 
as it would result in service vehicles having to reverse into the site from the public highway 
whereas the preference, in safety terms, is for any and all service vehicles to enter, turn and exit 
the site in a forward gear.  In addition, the LHA has raised objection to the ability of a vehicle to 
manoeuvre owing to the positioning of a telegraph pole and vehicles parked along Church Street. 
This objection is noted, however Officers consider that the fall-back position is of key relevance in 
this instance.  

22



11

This side access is presently in situ, available for servicing of the public house.  Whilst some 
objectors have advised that the delivery vehicles for the public house have traditionally used the 
main car park (rolling the barrels around to the northern side where the cellar access is located), 
and the LHA does not consider that this is an appropriate existing access, Officers acknowledge 
that under the provisions of the fall-back position, this original side access could be used without 
the need for planning permission at any time.  

Under the provisions of the fall-back position, all 485sqm of the existing public house could be 
converted to an A1 retail unit and use this side (northern) access.  The proposal instead, seeks to 
provide only 274sqm of floorspace which represents a decrease of retail floorspace of 211sqm.  In 
planning terms, it is considered that this represents a less intensive use of the site which would 
result in the less intensive use of the servicing arrangement.  Whilst it is acknowledged that the 
service access does not provide the requisite vehicle-to-vehicle and vehicle-to-pedestrian visibility 
splays to the north (the visibility splay to the south has been amended to be in line with LHA 
comments), as these are located on third party land, this is currently the case.  The LHA has 
expressed concern that the new building (located closer to the back edge of the highway) would 
make the delivery access much less visible to users of Church Street.  However, from the south, 
the requisite visibility splays would be provided.  Accordingly, as the proposal does not represent 
intensification of the substandard access compared to the fall-back position, it is the opinion of 
Officers that a reason for refusal in terms of highway safety in relation to the proposed servicing 
arrangements could not be sustained on this basis. 

It is noted that the proposal would reduce the available depth within the site within which a service 
vehicle could pull clear of the adopted public highway given the creation of a parking area to the 
rear of the proposed building.  To address this, it is considered necessary to restrict the size of 
delivery vehicle that can access the site by condition to ensure that vehicles can pull clear of the 
highway whilst loading/unloading.  

In addition, as the proposed building would be brought forward of the line of the existing building 
(closer to the back edge of the highway), there would be less space for a vehicle to pull clear of the 
carriageway from the existing situation.  Whilst gates are shown to the proposed delivery access, 
owing to this relationship and the potential for a vehicle to consequently block the highway whilst 
awaiting opening of the gates, it is considered necessary to impose a condition which requires the 
access to be ungated. 

Subject to such a restriction, it is not considered that the proposal would pose an unacceptable 
danger to the safety of the public highway and is therefore in accordance with Policy CS14 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP12 of the Peterborough Planning Policies 
DPD (2012).  

Traffic generation
Several of the objections received from local residents have raised concern regarding the 
increased traffic generation arising from the proposed development.  In particular, concern has 
been expressed in relation to conflict with existing traffic flows which are considered to be high, 
particularly at the junction of South Street and Church Street.  These concerns are noted however, 
as detailed above, it is not considered that the proposal would represent an intensification of use of 
the site above and beyond the fall-back position.  

Notwithstanding the above, the application site is located within close proximity of a large 
residential area which would ensure that the retail unit is readily accessible to future customers.  
On this basis, it is considered that the site is located within a sustainable location which will 
encourage trips by sustainable methods of travel (i.e. walking and cycling).  This should in turn, 
prevent significant levels of traffic arising.  

Bin storage
It is noted that the LHA has raised concerns regarding the operation of the 2no. proposed bin 

23



12

stores which, owing to the design of the access doors could impede the available width of the 
service and residential accesses.  Similarly, the City Council’s Waste and Recycling Officer has 
advised that inward opening gates would not be workable as this would reduce the amount of 
available space for bin storage.  These concerns are noted, however it is considered that a 
workable solution could be found to ensure that adequate bin provision is made without detriment 
to the proposed accesses.  Amendments to these elements of the proposal could be secured by 
condition, with the final details agreed by both consultees.  

Cycle parking 
The proposal seeks to provide 10no. cycle parking spaces for the proposed retail unit (5no. for staff 
and 5no. for customers).  The proposed staff cycle parking would be located within the rear 
enclosed and secure service yard/parking area whilst the customer parking would be located 
adjacent to the main car park.  This level of provision is considered appropriate and would accord 
with adopted minimum cycle parking standards.  Whilst these standards require that the customer 
parking be covered, owing to the prominence of the site and its location within the Conservation 
Area, it is not considered that such a structure could be acceptably accommodated without 
resulting in unacceptable harm to the features of the heritage asset.  Accordingly, it is accepted in 
this instance that the customer cycle spaces be uncovered.  

With regards to resident cycle parking, it is acknowledged that the submitted drawings do not 
identify any allocated parking at ground floor.  However, there is adequate space allocated to each 
residential unit (i.e. within the private amenity areas) for residents to park cycles.  Whilst this is not 
the preferable arrangement, as cycles would need to be taken to the first floor, there is little space 
within the external areas of the site to accommodate further cycle parking.  

Proximity to the highway boundary
The LHA has also advised that the new building would be located within 0.5 metres of the back 
edge of the footway which is not considered acceptable as it would pose a long-term maintenance 
issue for the highway.  Whilst this is noted, this relationship exists along much of Church Street, 
which is characterised by dwellings/buildings which front hard on to the public highway.  The 
scheme has been carefully designed so as to respect the traditional built form of the locality and 
preserve the features of the Conservation Area.  Any set back, to the distance the LHA requires, 
would result in an awkward and contrived relationship to the heritage asset.  Furthermore, it does 
not pose a highway safety danger and accordingly, Officers do not consider that this would be a 
sufficient basis upon which to resist the proposal. 

d) Neighbour amenity
The nearest residential property to the application site is located immediately to the west of the site 
(No.25 South Street).  This is an end of terrace two storey residential dwelling which fronts on to 
South Street and with an outdoor amenity area to the rear.  It is considered that the proposal has 
been designed to respond to the relationship with this dwelling.  The building line of the proposal 
would follow both the front and rear building line of the dwellings to the west.  This would ensure 
that the two storey bulk of the proposal would not project beyond any of the existing elevations of 
the neighbouring dwelling and as such, would not result in an unacceptable relationship in terms of 
overbearing or overshadowing impact.

Furthermore, whilst the proposal would include first floor primary habitable windows and outdoor 
amenity areas to the proposed residential flats, the building has been designed to provide a 1.8 
metre high parapet wall to the northern elevation which would provide a barrier of sufficient height 
to prevent unacceptable levels of overlooking to the rear garden area of No.25 South Street and 
properties beyond.  Accordingly, the proposal would not give rise to any unacceptable degree of 
loss of privacy to existing occupants.  

Turning next to the proposed rear parking area, this would be sited immediately adjacent to No.25 
South Street and introduce vehicular movements.  However, these vehicular movements would 
only be associated with 4no. of the proposed residential units and as such, it is not considered that 
this would pose an unacceptable level of noise and general disturbance as the level of use would 

24



13

not be significant.  In terms of the proposed service area, this would be sited approximately 14 
metres from the shared boundary with the neighbouring residential dwelling and would be enclosed 
by some means of boundary treatment (to be secured by condition).  Whilst this would introduce 
some degree of noise disturbance, particularly owing to the size of vehicle, this is currently the 
location for service vehicles associated with the public house and, in light of the fall-back position, 
there would not be any intensification of the use of the site in terms of servicing levels.  
Accordingly, it is not considered that this element of the proposal would give rise to an 
unacceptable increase in noise/general disturbance to neighbouring occupants or an objection be 
sustained at appeal.  

It is noted that some objections have been received from local residents along South Street in 
terms of loss of privacy arising from the proposed car parking layout.  Whilst it is acknowledged 
that the provision of parking spaces would result in movements in very close proximity to the front 
of dwellings along South Street, this is currently the situation.  The existing car park associated 
with the public house provides parking spaces to the front of the residential dwellings which would 
give rise to the same degree of impact.  Accordingly, whilst there would be harm to occupant 
amenity, it would not be above and beyond the existing situation and therefore, it is considered that 
a reason for refusal on this basis could not be sustained.  

In light of the above and taking into account the fall-back position, it is not considered that the 
proposal would result in an unacceptable increase in harm to the amenities of neighbouring 
occupants and is therefore in accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy 
DPD (2011) and Policy PP3 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012). 

e) Future occupant amenity
It is considered that the proposed first floor residential flats would afford future occupants an 
acceptable level of internal space and natural daylight.  Furthermore, all primary habitable rooms 
would be afforded an acceptable outlook, with windows of adequate size.  In terms of outdoor 
amenity space, it is proposed for each unit to be provided with a small area immediately adjacent 
to the unit.  Whilst some of these areas are acknowledged to be small, they would afford occupants 
an area in which to dry washing, store bicycles and sit out.  Such a level of space is considered to 
be commensurate with flats, as large gardens are not considered necessary as widely accepted 
elsewhere in the City.  Each outdoor area would be private, with adequate boundary treatments 
ensuring that potential overlooking between occupants is minimised.  On this basis, it is considered 
that the proposal would provide future occupants with an acceptable level of amenity, in 
accordance with Policy PP4 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012). 

f) Archaeology
The City Council’s Archaeologist has advised that the application site is located within an area of 
known archaeology, particularly given its proximity to the historic core of the historic village of 
Stanground.  Whilst the Archaeologist acknowledges that some truncation of buried heritage 
assets is likely to have taken place, there is the possibility of earlier assets (situated deeper 
underground) which may have not been disturbed.  To ensure that no harm results to these, a 
condition has been requested which requires any deep excavations to be monitored.  Subject to 
such a condition, it is considered that the proposal would not pose an unacceptable risk to buried 
heritage assets, in accordance with paragraph 128 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2012), Policy CS17 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP17 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).  

g) Other matters
In response to those objections raised but not discussed above:

Competition with other existing retail units – The issue of competition, and subsequent potential 
impact to the viability of existing retail premises, is not a material planning consideration. 

Insufficient public consultation – A total of 121 objection letters were issued to surrounding local 
residents, above and beyond the statutory requirement for notification to only those properties with 

25



14

an adjoining boundary to the site.  In addition, 3no. site notices were erected (2no. to South Street 
and 1no. to Church Street) and a public notice placed in the Peterborough Telegraph.  On this 
basis, it is considered that the public consultation that has taken place exceeds the statutory 
requirements. 

Potential HMO use – Under the provisions of part 3 Class L of Schedule 2 of the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015, there would be a permitted right 
for each of the proposed residential flats to be converted to a small-scale house in multiple 
occupation (HMO) of up to 6 persons.  Whilst the objection relates to the future occupants and 
possibility for anti-social behaviour which is not a material planning consideration, the proposal 
would not provide adequate parking facilities for such a use.  As such, it is considered necessary 
and appropriate to secure a condition which removes this permitted development right.  

6 Conclusions

Subject to the imposition of the attached conditions, the proposal is acceptable having been 
assessed in the light of all material considerations, including weighing against relevant policies of 
the development plan and specifically:
 under the provisions of Part 3 Class A of Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning 

(General Permitted Development) Order 2015, there is a permitted right for the application site 
to be converted to a Class A1 retail unit.  On this basis, the principle of a retail unit outside of 
any identified District or Local Centres is established as is the loss of the existing public house;

 the proposal would not result in any unacceptable impact to the character, appearance or 
visual amenity of the surrounding area, in accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough 
Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP2 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012);

 the proposal would preserve and enhance the features for which the Stanground Conservation 
Area has been designated, in accordance with Section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings 
and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, paragraph 131 of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2012), Policy CS17 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP17 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012);

 the proposal would ensure that no harm results to potential undiscovered buried heritage 
assets, in accordance with paragraph 128 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012), 
Policy CS17 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP17 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012);

 the proposal would make adequate parking provision to meet the needs of the development, in 
accordance with Policy CS14 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP13 
of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012);

 in light of the fall-back position, the proposal would not represent an intensification of a 
substandard service access;

 the proposed new access onto South Street would not pose an unacceptable danger to 
highway safety, in accordance with Policy CS14 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD 
(2011) and Policy PP12 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012);

 the proposal would not result in an unacceptable worsening of the impact to neighbouring 
occupants above and beyond the existing situation, in accordance with Policy CS16 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP3 of the Peterborough Planning 
Policies DPD (2012); and

 the proposal would afford future occupants an acceptable level of amenity, in accordance with 
Policy PP4 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

7 Recommendation

The Director of Growth and Regeneration recommends that Planning Permission is GRANTED 
subject to the following conditions:

26



15

C 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 
the date of this permission.

Reason: In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended).

 

C 2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 
drawings:

- Existing Site and Location Plans (drawing number X/SP/00 Revision A)
- Proposed South and East Elevations (drawing number P/LE/01 Revision B)
- Proposed North and West Elevations (drawing number P/LE/02 Revision B)
- Street Scene South Elevation (drawing number P/LE/03 Revision A)
- Street Scene East Elevation (drawing number P/LE/04 Revision B)
- Proposed Ground Floor Plan (drawing number P/LP/00 Revision B)
- Proposed First Floor Plan (drawing number P/LEP/01 Revision A)
- Proposed Roof Plan (drawing number P/LP/02 Revision A)
- Proposed Sections (drawing number P/LX/01 Revision A)
- Proposed Site Plan (drawing number P/SP/00 Revision A)
- Proposed Surfaces Plan (drawing number P/SP/00/Surfaces Revision B)

Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.
 

C 3 No development other than demolition, groundworks and foundations shall take place until 
samples/details of the following external materials to be used have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority:

- Walling (samples)
- Roofing (samples)
- Cills and lintels (samples)
- Windows, including false 'dummy' windows (details)
- Doors, including false 'dummy' doors (details)
- Shop fronts (details)
- Chimneys (details)
- Rainwater goods (details)

The samples/details submitted for approval shall include the name of the manufacturer, the 
product type, colour (using BS4800) and reference number. The development shall not be 
carried out except in accordance with the approved details. 

Reason: For the Local Planning Authority to ensure a satisfactory external appearance and 
to preserve the historic features of the Conservation Area, in accordance with Section 72(1) 
of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, Policies CS16 and 
CS17 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policies PP2 and PP17 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 

C 4 Notwithstanding the drawings hereby approved and the details secured under Condition C3 
above, no development other than demolition, groundworks and foundations shall take 
place until details of the following have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority:

- Alteration to the shop front windows to the southern (South Street) and south-eastern 
(corner) elevation to include 3no. vertical mullion windows; 
- Cross sections of the eaves course and chimney to be used; and

27



16

- Date stones to both the southern (South Street) and eastern (Church Street) elevations.

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

Reason:  For the Local Planning Authority to ensure a satisfactory external appearance and 
to preserve the historic features of the Conservation Area, in accordance with Section 72(1) 
of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, Policies CS16 and 
CS17 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policies PP2 and PP17 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 

C 5 No development shall take place until a programme of archaeological work including a 
Written Scheme of Investigation has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  No development shall take place unless in complete accordance with 
the approved scheme.  The approved scheme shall be implemented in full including any 
post development requirements e.g. archiving and submission of final reports.

Reason: To secure the obligation on the planning applicant or developer to mitigate the 
impact of their scheme on the historic environment when preservation in situ is not 
possible, in accordance with paragraphs 128 and 141 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2012), Policy CS17 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy 
PP17 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).  This is a pre-commencement 
condition because archaeological investigations will be required to be carried out before 
development begins.

 

C 6 No development shall take place until a Demolition and Construction Management Plan has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The Plan shall 
include (but not be limited to):

- Haulage routes from the Parkway system for all delivery vehicles;
- Method of demolition;
-  Hours of demolition and construction;
- Parking arrangements for all vehicles visiting the site;
- Materials storage and unloading areas;
- Welfare compound;
- Protective site fencing;
- Measures to prevent the emission of dust from the site;
- Noise control measures; and
- Wheel wash facility.

Development, including demolition, shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details and all vehicles exiting the site shall pass through the wheel wash facility before 
entering the public highway.

Reason:  In the interests of highway safety and protecting the amenities of neighbouring 
occupants, in accordance with Policies CS14 and CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy 
DPD (2011) and Policies PP3 and PP12 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD 
(2012).  This is a pre-commencement condition to ensure no demolition or construction 
activities give rise to unacceptable highway safety or neighbour amenity impacts.

 

C 7 The retail unit and residential dwellings hereby permitted shall not be brought into 
use/occupied until the areas shown on drawing number P/SP/00 Revision A 'Proposed Site 
Plan' for the parking, turning, loading and unloading of vehicles have been drained, 
surfaced and marked out in accordance with details submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  Thereafter, those areas shall be retained solely for the 

28



17

parking, turning, loading and unloading of vehicles in connection with the unit/residential 
dwelling to which they relate.  

Reason:  In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy CS14 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policies PP12 and PP13 of the Peterborough 
Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 

C 8 Prior to first use of the retail unit or first occupation of any residential dwellings hereby 
permitted, whichever is sooner, the new vehicular access onto South Street shall be 
constructed and surfaced in accordance with details submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason:  In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy CS14 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP12 of the Peterborough Planning 
Policies DPD (2012).

 

C 9 Notwithstanding the approved drawings, the new vehicular access onto South Street and 
the service/loading access to Church Street shall not be brought into use until the following 
vehicle-to-pedestrian visibility splays shall be provided (measured from and along the back 
edge of the public highway):

- 2 metres x 2 metres to either side of the access to South Street; and
- 2 metres x 2 metres to the southern side of the access to Church Street.

Thereafter, those visibility splays shall be kept clear of any obstruction above a height of 
600mm from ground level in perpetuity.

Reason:  In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy CS14 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP12 of the Peterborough Planning 
Policies DPD (2012).

 

C10 Notwithstanding the approved drawings, the new vehicular access onto South Street and 
the service/loading access to Church Street shall not be brought into use until the following 
vehicle-to-vehicle visibility splays shall be provided (measured from the back edge of the 
public carriageway and along from the centre line of the access):

- 2.4 metres x 33 metres to the western side of the access to South Street;
- 2.4 metres x 33 metres, up to the point at which the splay intersects with the tangent point 
to the radius of the junction of South Street and Church Street, to the eastern side of the 
access to South Street; and
- 2.4 metres x 33 metres to the southern side of the access to Church Street.  

Thereafter, those visibility splays shall be kept clear of any obstruction above a height of 
600mm from ground level in perpetuity.

Reason:  In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy CS14 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP12 of the Peterborough Planning 
Policies DPD (2012).

 

C11 The retail unit hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until the existing vehicular 
access serving the existing car park onto Church Street shall be closed in accordance with 
details submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The details 

29



18

shall include the reinstatement of the public footway, including surfacing and kerb 
arrangement.  

Reason:  In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy CS14 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP12 of the Peterborough Planning 
Policies DPD (2012).

 

C12 The retail unit hereby permitted shall not be served by any delivery vehicle larger than a 
10.5 metre long rigid-wheel based heavy goods vehicle.

Reason:  As there is insufficient space within the site to accommodate a larger vehicle and 
in the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy CS14 of the Peterborough 
Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP12 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD 
(2012).

 

C13 Notwithstanding the approved drawings and the provisions of Part 2 Class B of Schedule 2 
of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 
(or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification), the new 
vehicular access onto South Street and the service/loading access to Church Street shall 
be ungated and retained as such in perpetuity.

Reason:  In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy CS14 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP12 of the Peterborough Planning 
Policies DPD (2012).

 

C14 The retail unit hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until the cycle parking shown 
on drawing number P/SP/00 Revision A 'Proposed Site Plan' has been provided in 
accordance with details submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  Thereafter, the cycle parking shall be retained solely for the parking of cycles in 
connection with the use of the retail unit in perpetuity.  

Reason:  In order to promote more sustainable methods of travel to/from the site, in 
accordance with Policy CS14 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy 
PP13 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 

C15 The retail unit and residential dwellings hereby permitted shall not be brought into 
use/occupied until details of bin storage provision, to accord with the RECAP Waste 
Management Design Guide SPD (2012), have been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority.  The bin storage shall be provided in accordance with the 
approved details and prior to first use/occupation of the unit to which it relates.  Thereafter, 
the areas for bin storage shall be retained solely for that purpose in perpetuity.

Reason:  In the interests of highway safety and the amenities of future occupants, in 
accordance with Policy CS14 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policies 
PP4 and PP12 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 

C16 Notwithstanding the submitted drawings and prior to the commencement of development 
except demolition, a scheme for the hard landscaping of the site shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The scheme shall include the following 
details:

- Proposed finished ground and building slab levels;

30



19

- Boundary treatments, enclosures and gates;
- Hard surfacing materials;
- External lighting; and
- Bollards or other means of vehicular access prevention.

The hard landscaping shall be provided in accordance with the approved details and prior 
to first use/occupation of the unit to which it relates.

Reason:  In the interests of security of the site, the amenities of future occupants, and the 
visual amenity of the locality, in accordance with Section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, Policies CS14, CS16 and CS17 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policies PP2, PP3, PP12 and PP17 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 

C17 Notwithstanding the provisions of Part 3 Class L of Schedule 2 of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking 
and re-enacting that Order with or without modification), the residential dwellings (flats) 
hereby permitted shall be residential dwellings within Class C3 of the Town and Country 
Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order with 
or without modification) only.  

Reason: The site is not capable of providing the necessary parking for a small-scale house 
in multiple occupation, in accordance with Policy CS14 of the Peterborough Core Strategy 
DPD (2011) and Policies PP12 and PP13 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD 
(2012).

Copy to Cllrs Clark, Lillis and Whitby
 

31



This page is intentionally left blank

32



33



This page is intentionally left blank

34



1

Item 2

Planning and EP Committee 24 January 2017

Application Ref: 16/02087/HHFUL 

Proposal: Demolition of existing garage and erection of annex

Site: Forge Cottage, 10 The Green, Glinton, Peterborough
Applicant: Mr David Gregg

Agent: Scott Whight Architects & Development Consultants

Referred by: Glinton Parish Council
Reason: Impact upon Conservation Area and St Benedicts Church
Site visit: 22.10.2016

Case officer: Mr D Jolley
Telephone No. 01733 453414
E-Mail: david.jolley@peterborough.gov.uk

Recommendation: GRANT subject to relevant conditions  

1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal

Site and surroundings
The application site contains a small C19th cottage with a modern two storey site extension and is 
located on the north side of The Green and within the Glinton Conservation Area.  The cottage is 
set to the back of the plot and has a large garden to the front.  A garage is located to the front of 
the dwelling 40 metres away.  To the rear of the cottage are single storey extensions which form 
part of the east and north boundaries.  

Proposal
Permission is sought for the erection of an annex on the footprint of the existing garage 
approximately 14.5m into the site from The Green. The dimensions are 7.6m x 5.3m with a ridge 
height of 5m.

2 Planning History

Reference Proposal Decision Date
11/01160/FUL Demolition of rear outbuildings construction 

of two storey side and rear extensions 
replacement of existing double garage with 
new double garage and workshop/store, 
replacement of windows and new door

Permitted 20/09/2011

3 Planning Policy

Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990

Section 72 - General duty as respects conservation areas in exercise of planning functions. 
The Local Planning Authority has a statutory duty to have special regard to the desirability of 

35



2

preserving the Conservation Area or its setting, or any features of special architectural or historic 
interest which it possesses.

Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011)

CS16 - Urban Design and the Public Realm 
Design should be of high quality, appropriate to the site and area, improve the public realm, 
address vulnerability to crime, be accessible to all users and not result in any unacceptable impact 
upon the amenities of neighbouring residents.

CS17 - The Historic Environment 
Development should protect, conserve and enhance the historic environment including non-
scheduled nationally important features and buildings of local importance.

Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012)

PP02 - Design Quality 
Permission will only be granted for development which makes a positive contribution to the built 
and natural environment; does not have a detrimental effect on the character of the area; is 
sufficiently robust to withstand/adapt to climate change; and is designed for longevity.

PP03 - Impacts of New Development 
Permission will not be granted for development which would result in an unacceptable loss of 
privacy, public and/or private green space or natural daylight; be overbearing or cause noise or 
other disturbance, odour or other pollution; fail to minimise opportunities for crime and disorder.

PP17 - Heritage Assets 
Development which would affect a heritage asset will be required to preserve and enhance the 
significance of the asset or its setting.  Development which would have detrimental impact will be 
refused unless there are overriding public benefits.

Design in Selected Villages (SPD) 2011

Glin1
Any new building should be sympathetic to its neighbours and in keeping with the village character 
and take into consideration views into the village, particularly of St Benedict’s church.

Glin7
The design of extensions and outbuildings should take into account not only views from the road 
but also other public views.

Glin12
New buildings should be sympathetic to neighbouring buildings and take into consideration views 
into the village, particularly of St Benedict’s church.

4 Consultations/Representations

Glinton Parish Council (09.12.16)
Building cannot be described as an annex, it is too far from the building and appears as a separate 
dwelling.

The proposal is against policies Glin1, Glin 7 and Glin 12, detrimental to the setting of St Benedicts 
Church, also against CS17.

Any planning consent should be limited to the sole use by owners of Forge Cottage.

36



3

Please refer to committee if the intention is to approve.

PCC Conservation Officer (14.11.16)
Given the extant permission, from a heritage consideration the proposed works can be supported, 
subject to the omission of the roof lights from the west elevation.

Local Residents/Interested Parties 

Initial consultations: 6
Total number of responses: 0
Total number of objections: 0
Total number in support: 0

No representations have been received in relation to the proposal.

5 Assessment of the planning issues

The main considerations are;

 The principle of development
 The impact of the proposal on the character of the Glinton Conservation Area
 The impact of the proposal on the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring dwellings

The principle of development
A replacement garage of identical size and practically identical appearance was approved under 
application 11/01160/FUL. Officers are satisfied that this permission was implemented and as such 
the previously approved garage could be constructed at any time. This garage could be 
constructed, then converted to an annex without planning permission, albeit with reduced internal 
head height as compared to this proposal as the annex is shown as sunk into the ground by 30cm.

The proposal was originally submitted without kitchen. Given the distance to the main house is 
approximately 40 metres, it was considered unlikely that the building would function as an annex 
with functional link to the host dwelling. The applicant has submitted revised plans showing a 
kitchen at ground floor, creating a self contained annex. 

The applicant has submitted supporting documentation expanding upon why the building is 
required and its likely use. The building would be partly used as an annex for the applicant’s elderly 
parents who live abroad but return to the UK for extended periods. At other times the building 
would be used as a quiet space for one of the applicants children who has health issues and 
requires a calm and quiet space. Long term it is likely that the building will be used by the disabled 
son who is unlikely to be able to live independently. 

In both cases the Local Planning Authority consider that these uses have a functional link to the 
host dwelling and as such the use of the building as an annex is acceptable in principle.

The Parish have requested that if recommended for approval a condition should be appended to 
the permission limiting the use of the annex to the owners of Forge Cottage. It is normal procedure 
for the Local Planning Authority to append an ancillary accommodation condition to applications for 
annexe's and this condition is considered reasonable in this instance.

The impact of the proposal on the character of the Glinton Conservation Area
The proposed garage occupies a prominent location within the Conservation Area and although 
the garage will be situated behind a relatively tall natural boundary the roof and top part of wall will 
be visible from the public realm. The stone quoin and semi smooth render finish is as previously 
permitted and will match that of the house. 

The main changes are the sinking into the ground of the annex by 30cm, insertion of windows in 

37



4

the west elevation instead of garage doors and the provision of bi-fold doors in the east elevation 
and the insertion of a roof light along the rear elevation roof slope. It is unlikely that the change to 
ground floor windows and garage door would be materially visible from the public realm due to the 
established boundary. The additional roof light will be visible from the public realm but it is 
considered that a single roof light will not unacceptably harm the character of the Glinton 
Conservation Area. The Conservation Officer considers the single roof window acceptable.

Glinton Parish Council have objected to the application stating that the garage would harm views of 
the adjacent church and as such the proposals are contrary to adopted planning policy. The 
previous garage was approved in September of 2011, four months after the Design and 
Development in Selected Villages SPD was adopted in June 2011. This document is quoted in the 
Case Officer report for application 11/01160/FUL and as such it was considered that the garage 
accords with the relevant policies contained within this document. 

Notwithstanding this, although visible in wider views from and to the church, the annex is of a 
modest height of 5.0 metres and is sited more than 50 metres from the church building itself, this is 
an acceptable separation distance that provides for adequate visual separation between the 
buildings. The garage continues an established building line created by numbers 8 and 9 The 
Green and as such is considered unlikely to appear incongruous. The Conservation Officer has 
raised no objection to the proposal.

Given the similarity of this proposal to the approved scheme it would not be reasonable to refuse 
this application on design grounds. Notwithstanding this the as stated above the previously 
approved garage could be constructed as the permission has been implemented, then converted 
to an annex without planning permission.

In light of the above it is considered that the proposal will not unacceptably harm the character of 
the Glinton Conservation Area or the setting of St Benedict’s church.

It is therefore considered that the proposal is in accordance with policies Glin1, Glin7 and Glin12 of 
the Design and Development in selected villages SPD 2011 and section 72 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act (Conservation Areas).

The impact of the proposal on the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring dwellings
The impact of a building of the size proposed was considered under application number 
11/01160/FUL and found to be acceptable, not resulting in unacceptable overshadowing, 
overbearing impact or noise disturbance to neighbours. However the use as an annex is 
considerably different. The nearest dwelling is located approximately 15 metres from the proposed 
annex. The use of the building as living accommodation may result in some disturbance to the 
occupiers of number 9 through its day to day use, illumination of rooms and cooking smells. 
However the Local Planning Authority has no reason to believe that the annex would result in an 
unacceptable level of disturbance to neighbours; the annex faces away from the nearest neighbour 
and the 15 metre separation distance is considered to be adequate and commensurate to 
relationships between residential accommodation across the Authority.

In order to avoid overlooking towards number 9 The Green, a condition will be appended to the 
permission removing permitted development rights in relation to insertion of windows.

Subject to the above, the development is considered to comply with policy PP3 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies (DPD).

Other matters
The existing garage does not appear to be useable and as such there will be no loss of parking 
following its demolition. There is ample space clear of the public highway to park two vehicles and 
as such the proposal accords with parking policy PP12.

The access is less than 5.0 metres wide and therefore would not be suitable as a shared access 

38



5

serving a standalone dwelling. The aforementioned condition, restricting the use of the building to 
ancillary accommodation, will prevent the use of the building as a separate planning unit.

Trees
The Landscape Officer has been consulted following submission of revised plans showing a 
retained tree. The outcome of this consultation will be recorded on the update report.

6 Conclusions

Subject to the imposition of the attached conditions, the proposal is acceptable having been 
assessed in the light of all material considerations, including weighing against relevant policies of 
the development plan and specifically:
- The proposal will not unacceptably harm the character of the Glinton Conservation Area, the 
setting of the adjacent listed St Benedict’s Church or the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring 
dwellings; in accordance with policies CS16 and CS17 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD 
2011, policies PP2, PP3 and PP17 of the Peterborough Core Strategy (DPD) 2012 and policies 
Glin1, Glin7 and Glin12 of the Design and Development in selected villages SPD 2011 and section 
72 of the Town and Country Planning Act (Conservation Areas).

7 Recommendation

The Director of Growth and Regeneration recommends that Planning Permission is GRANTED 
subject to the following conditions:

 

C 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 
the date of this permission.

Reason: In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended).

 

C 2 The development shall be carried out in accordance with drawings; 01A-A3, 02B-A3 and 
03A-A3.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt.
 

C 3 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Part 1 Class A, B, C and E of the Town & Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any Order revoking and re 
enacting that Order with or without modification), no windows shall be inserted into the 
permitted extension other than those expressly authorised by this permission or those 
expressly authorised by any future planning permission. 

Reason: In order protect the amenity of the adjoining occupiers or the visual amenity of the 
area, in accordance with Policy CS16 of the adopted Peterborough Core Strategy DPD.

 

C 4 The annex hereby permitted shall not be occupied or used at any time other than for 
purposes ancillary to the residential use of the dwelling known as Forge Cottage, 10 The 
Green and shall not be occupied , leased or rented as a separate dwelling.

Reason: The site is not adequate to support a separate dwelling and therefore this 
development is only acceptable as ancillary accommodation in accordance with Policy 

39



6

CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP4 of the Peterborough 
Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 

C 5 No above ground development shall take place until samples of all external facing 
materials, roof tiles, windows, doors and rainwater goods to be used have been submitted 
to or inspected on site by the Local Planning Authority's conservation officer, or 
representative and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason:  In order to preserve the special architectural and historic character of the Glinton 
Conservation Area; in accordance with the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as amended), Policy CS17 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP17 of the Peterborough Planning 
Policies DPD (2012).

 

C 6 Windows and doors shall be inset from the exterior elevation by 50mm.

Reason:  In order to preserve the special architectural and historic character of the Glinton 
Conservation Area in accordance with the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as amended), Policy CS17 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP17 of the Peterborough Planning 
Policies DPD (2012).

Copy to Cllrs Hiller and Holdich 
 
 

40



41



This page is intentionally left blank

42



1

Item 3

Planning and EP Committee 24 January 2017

Application Ref: 16/02184/R4FUL 

Proposal: Construction of 16 affordable dwellings consisting of 4 x 1 bed flats and 8 
x 2 bed flats for rent and 4 x 3 bed houses for shared ownership with 
associated external works and parking; refurbishment and alterations to 
Hampton Court shopping area; and proposed new parking area - 
resubmission

Site: Car Park, Hampton Court, Westwood, Peterborough
Applicant: Cross Keys Homes Ltd
Agent: Mrs Rebecca White, The Design Partnership (Ely) Ltd

Referred by: Councillors Murphy and Smith 
Reason: Loss of parking, loss of green space, highway safety concerns and 

safety concerns for users of the adjacent play area

Site visit: 07.12.2016

Case officer: Miss Louise Lovegrove
Telephone No. 01733 454439
E-Mail: louise.lovegrove@peterborough.gov.uk

Recommendation: GRANT subject to relevant conditions  

1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal

Site and Surroundings
The application site comprises the Westwood Local Centre, known as Hampton Court, situated at 
the key junction of Wicken Way, Lutton Grove, Ivatt Way and Hartwell Way which serves the wider 
Westwood area.  The centre is formed by two parades of retail units running east-west with a 
central hard surfaced concourse between.  The concourse is interspersed with mature trees 
surrounded by metal railings.  

Above the retail units are two storeys of residential flats which are accessed by a number of 
stairwells and ramps throughout the centre.  

Parking is provided within a large publicly accessible but private car park to the eastern-most 
extent of the site which is separated from the Local Centre by the adopted Hartwell Way, and 
within garages accessed from service roads to the rear of the two parades of buildings.  The main 
car park is fully hard surfaced with a recycling ‘bring’ point to the south-eastern corner.  

The site is bound to the north and south by residential dwellings, and to the west by a Community 
Centre, Health Centre and area of designated Public Open Space (POS).  To the east of the site, 
is the junction of Ivatt Way with Hartwell Way which benefits from considerable open green space. 

Proposal
The application seeks planning permission for:
a) Redevelopment of the main Local Centre car park to provide 12no. flats in 6no. adjoined 

blocks (4 x 1-bed and 8 x 2-bed units) for affordable rent, and 4no. 3-bed dwellings for shared 
ownership;

b) Creation of a new 22-space car park on existing Public Open Space to the south-west of the 
Local Centre, accessed from Lutton Grove;

43



2

c) Removal of the front canopies to the two parades of buildings;
d) Resurfacing of the central shopping concourse;
e) Installation of railings and gates to the stairwells and ramps;
f) Demolition of 1no. set of external stairs (to the rear of No.22 Hampton Court);
g) Construction of 1.8 metre high walls/railings and gates to enclose the parking area to the rear 

of Nos.2-34 Hampton Court (off Lutton Grove);
h) Reconfiguration of the parking area to the rear of Nos.2-34 Hampton Court; and
i) Relocation of the existing ‘bring’ (recycling) site.  

2 Planning History

Reference Proposal Decision Date
16/01317/R4FUL Sixteen affordable houses consisting of 4 x 

1 bed houses; 8 x 2 bed houses; 4 x 3 bed 
houses with associated external works and 
parking; refurbishment and alterations to 
Hampton Court shopping area and 
proposed new parking area

Withdrawn 
by Applicant 

19/09/2016

3 Planning Policy

Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

National Planning Policy Framework (2012)

Section 7 - Good Design 
Development should add to the overall quality of the area; establish a strong sense of place; 
optimise the site potential; create and sustain an appropriate mix of uses; support local facilities 
and transport networks; respond to local character and history while not discouraging appropriate 
innovation; create safe and accessible environments which are visually attractive as a result of 
good architecture and appropriate landscaping. Planning permission should be refused for 
development of poor design.

Section 8 - Safe and Accessible Environments 
Development should aim to promote mixed use developments, the creation of strong neighbouring 
centres and active frontages; provide safe and accessible environments with clear and legible 
pedestrian routes and high quality public space.

Section 10 - Development and Flood Risk 
New development should be planned to avoid increased vulnerability to the impacts of climate 
change. Inappropriate development in areas of flood risk should be avoided by directing it away 
from areas at higher risk. Where development is necessary it shall be made safe without 
increasing flood risk elsewhere. Applications should be supported as appropriate by a site-specific 
Flood Risk Assessment, a Sequential Test and, if required, the Exception Test.

Section 12 - Development Affecting Non-Designated Heritage Assets 
A balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any harm and the significance 
of the heritage asset.  Where the assets is demonstrably of equivalent significance to a Scheduled 
Monuments it should be subject to the policies for designated heritage assets.

Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011)

CS06 - Neighbourhood Regeneration 
Regeneration will focus on key areas with service delivery through Neighbourhood Management 
Areas.

44



3

CS08 - Meeting Housing Needs 
Promotes a mix of housing the provision of 30% affordable on sites of 15 of more dwellings (70% 
social rented and 30% intermediate housing), 20% life time homes and 2% wheelchair housing.

CS14 - Transport 
Promotes a reduction in the need to travel, sustainable transport, the Council’s UK Environment 
Capital aspirations and development which would improve the quality of environments for 
residents.

CS16 - Urban Design and the Public Realm 
Design should be of high quality, appropriate to the site and area, improve the public realm, 
address vulnerability to crime, be accessible to all users and not result in any unacceptable impact 
upon the amenities of neighbouring residents.

CS17 - The Historic Environment 
Development should protect, conserve and enhance the historic environment including non-
scheduled nationally important features and buildings of local importance.

CS19 - Open Space and Green Infrastructure 
New residential development should make provision for/improve public green space, sports and 
play facilities. Loss of open space will only be permitted if no deficiency would result.

Peterborough Site Allocations DPD (2012)

SA03 - Urban Area 
Identifies sites within the Urban Area that are allocated primarily for residential use

Cambridgeshire & Peterborough Mineral and Waste Core Strategy DPD (2011)

CS28 - Waste Minimisation, Re-use and Resource Recovery
Waste minimisation, re-use and resource recovery will be encouraged by requiring: a waste 
management audit and strategy; submission of a completed RECAP Waste Management Design 
Guide Toolkit Assessment; new development to contribute towards the provision of bring sites; and 
temporary waste recycling facilities in strategic development areas. 

Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012)

PP02 - Design Quality 
Permission will only be granted for development which makes a positive contribution to the built 
and natural environment; does not have a detrimental effect on the character of the area; is 
sufficiently robust to withstand/adapt to climate change; and is designed for longevity.

PP03 - Impacts of New Development 
Permission will not be granted for development which would result in an unacceptable loss of 
privacy, public and/or private green space or natural daylight; be overbearing or cause noise or 
other disturbance, odour or other pollution; fail to minimise opportunities for crime and disorder.

PP04 - Amenity Provision in New Residential Development 
Proposals for new residential development should be designed and located to ensure that they 
provide for the needs of the future residents.

PP11A - (a) Shop Frontages (including signage) 
Permission will only be granted if the design is sympathetic, it would not harm the character and 
appearance of the street and advertisements are incorporated as an integral part of the design.

PP12 - The Transport Implications of Development 

45



4

Permission will only be granted if appropriate provision has been made for safe access by all user 
groups and there would not be any unacceptable impact on the transportation network including 
highway safety.

PP13 - Parking Standards 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate parking provision for all modes of transport is made 
in accordance with standards.

PP17 - Heritage Assets 
Development which would affect a heritage asset will be required to preserve and enhance the 
significance of the asset or its setting.  Development which would have detrimental impact will be 
refused unless there are overriding public benefits.

Peterborough Local Plan 2016 to 2036 (Preliminary Draft)
This document sets out the planning policies against which development will be assessed. It will 
bring together all the current Development Plan Documents into a single document. Consultation 
on this document runs from December 2016 until 9 February 2017.
 
At this preliminary stage the polices cannot be afforded any weight with the exception of the 
calculation relating to the five year land supply as this is based upon the updated Housing Needs 
Assessment and sites which have planning permission or which are subject to a current 
application. Individual policies are not therefore referred to further in this report.

4 Consultations/Representations

PCC Transport & Engineering Services (06.12.17)
No objections - The LHA are satisfied that the submitted Parking Survey and spot checks account 
for all factors and have been carried out in accordance with the LHA's standards.  As no separate 
pedestrian access is proposed to the parking area to the flats, the access should be widened to 5.5 
metres in width.  An additional visitor parking space is also required to this area.  Request 
conditions relating to parking provision/retention, cycle parking provision/retention, vehicle-to-
pedestrian visibility splays and a construction management plan.

Lead Local Drainage Authority (06.12.17)
No objections – Pleased to see the inclusion of permeable paving to provide a betterment on the 
existing runoff rates from the site.  Request a condition relating to confirmation that Anglian Water 
accept the runoff rates and management details of the water assets.

Landscape Architect (Amey) (05.12.17)
Objection - The proposed car park and 'bring' site would be sited on dedicated Public Open Space 
maintained by the City Council.  Under the provisions of adopted policies, this space should be 
protected.

Environment Agency (01.12.17)
No objection - Request a condition requiring details of foul water drainage to be submitted and 
agreed prior to the commencement of development in relation to the dwellings.

Archaeological Officer (29.11.16)
No objections - This area has been poorly investigated due to its former military use, and its 
archaeological potential is uncertain. The degree of disturbance caused by landscaping associated 
with the conversion of the site to a parking area is also unknown.  Due to uncertainty and 
insufficient evidence to assess the significance of the site, I would recommend that a programme 
of evaluation by trial trenching is secured by condition.

Building Control Manager (22.12.16)
Building Regulations approval required.  Part M relating to disabled requirements also applicable.  

46



5

PCC Pollution Team 
No comments received.

PCC Senior Recreation Officer 
No comments received.

PCC Travel Choice 
No comments received.

PCC Strategic Housing (22.11.16)
No objections - The proposal would accord with the requirement, under Policy CS8, to provide 
affordable housing.  The mix of tenure proposed and mix of dwelling sizes are acceptable.  The 
proposal would also accord with the provision to meet lifetime homes standards (20%).

Cambridgeshire Fire & Rescue Service 
No comments received.

Waste Management 
No comments received.

Anglian Water Services Ltd (28.12.17)
No objection - The foul drainage form this development is within the catchment of the Flag Fen 
Water Recycling Centre which has capacity to accommodate it.  The sewerage system also have 
available capacity for the proposed flows.

Local Residents/Interested Parties 

Initial consultations: 170
Total number of responses: 33 
Total number of objections: 31 (including 1no. petition)
Total number in support: 0

A total of 29no. objection letters have been received from local residents on the following grounds:
 Extremely concerned where the current 48 cars (average amount of cars parked per day, in 

the car park measured over a 6-working day period) are going to park in addition to the extra 
cars for the 16 new dwellings (possibly 32 cars). 

 Is the parking in the roads to the front and rear of my property (Cosgrove Close and Wollaston 
Road) going to be restricted for the residents of the properties on these roads? If so, who is 
going to pay?

 It is understood that there is presently a ground water problem on this land with extremely poor 
drainage.  With the extra dwellings, this could lead to potential flooding problems in the area. 
Is there an action plan being implemented to ensure that the area does not flood?

 Since the recent 6 new homes in Hampton Court have been occupied, the litter in the area has 
been disgusting.  There was a 10 day period where dirty nappies lay outside the entrance of 
one of the homes.  The extra litter from the 16 new dwellings, together with the current litter, 
could result in a slum situation.  What actions are to be implemented to ensure that this does 
not occur?

 Concerned that the infrastructure required to accommodate these new dwellings is not 
currently in place.  In particular, the surrounding roads (traffic from Ivatt Way into Hartwell Way 
and Wicken Way into Hartwell Way) are currently dangerous. The new dwellings will reduce 
the peripheral vision and increase the traffic at these junctions.  Is a new road plan going to be 
introduced to accommodate the new buildings and extra traffic?

 There can be one bus every 10 minutes stopping at the bus stop in front of the shopping area.  
With extra cars from the new houses, together with the current 48 cars in the area, there could 
be chaos with buses trying to pass by.  Is the bus service to be continued on the same route? 

 The loss of the car park would make it very difficult for people visiting family/friends and using 
the local shops.

47



6

 The removal of the canopies will pose a danger to occupants in the event of a fire as this is a 
means of escape.  

 The Doctors car park is full during both morning and evening surgeries, with parking all along 
Wicken Way already.  Stafford Hall (Community Centre) has only 5 parking spaces and the 
Dentist has no parking.  

 At least 50-60 parking spaces should be retained. 
 If this application goes through, it will rip the heart out of the community. 
 Losing the car park would be to the detriment of residents, visitors of residents, shoppers, 

shopkeepers and local workers.  
 The proposed building or more houses and flats, on an already densely populated estate, will 

only add a further sense of overcrowding and poorer security. 
 The photographs of the car park submitted, are not typical of the busy days that occur much of 

the time at Westwood.  
 Concerned that the 3D schematic drawings submitted seem to suggest buildings which are 

three storeys high.  However, the Elevations clearly show two storey high buildings.  Three 
storey buildings would not be in keeping with the surrounding houses.  

 The canopies at the shops provide shelter/cover for shoppers during inclement weather and 
have done for 35 years.  They should not be removed.  

 The proposed properties are not in keeping with the open aspect houses in this area.  
 It will have a devastating effect on the local shops, probably causing several to close.  
 No impact assessment has been carried out on the surrounding verges regarding wildlife. 
 A development of this size will cause more loss of open space which is already minimal since 

the extension to Ravensthorpe School.  
 The car park is used as a pick-up point by national firms such as Shearings and local firms like 

Shaws.  
 During the daytime, disabled and senior citizens use the car park and catch the bus into the 

City because of poor bus connections within the area.  
 The existing car park is in great demand from the local workforce at the industrial estate and 

the Hospital. 
 The proposed car park would be dangerous to small children using the play equipment.  
 It looks as though the bus stop will be lost.  How are the elderly, disabled and young mothers 

going to be able to catch as bus in safety once this has been removed? 
 The houses will overlook our property (Wicken Way), leading to a loss of privacy and 

enjoyment of our home and garden. 
 Over the years the area, particularly near to the shops at Hampton Court, has deteriorated 

(lots of rubbish etc.).  If these plans go ahead, the situation will deteriorate further as the area 
is already densely populated. 

 Why is the area thought to be so essential to build on when there are a number of buildings in 
the City that could be developed into flats? 

 Why did the Council allow the Developers of the old Hospital site on Thorpe Road to reduce 
their commitment to affordable housing?

 It is noted that the groundwater report submitted concludes that conditions on the car park are 
not suitable for infiltration of surface water runoff and that water butts are provided to harvest 
rainwater.  From experience, in times of heavy rainfall they take a limited amount of water 
before overflowing.  

 The development will create poor natural lighting for the area. 
 The resultant on-street parking will result in congestion and residents being unable to use their 

driveways. 

In addition, a petition of 123no. signatories has been received which states a follows:
‘We object to the proposed development of the Hampton Court Westwood Car Park.  We believe 
that it is an overdevelopment that threatens the continued existence of our local shops.  We also 
believe that the cars, which are no longer able to use the car park, will create an on street parking 
problem and cause access problems for much of the estate.

We object, on safety grounds, to the removal of the canopies at the front of the shops.

48



7

We are opposed to the proposed new car park off Lutton Grove, adjacent to the Chip Shop, as we 
believe that it encroaches on the Westwood green space and will also cause a major traffic 
problem.  Lutton Grove already has an access and on street parking problem, which would 
become worse with the increased traffic flow to and from the proposed new car park.  The vehicles 
that are displaced from the present car park will also increase the on street parking problem in both 
Lutton Grove and Wicken Way.  The new parking area adjacent to the Chip Shop would also be 
situated too close to the children’s play area.’ 

Councillor Murphy has raised the following objections:
- Car parking and green space will be reduced/lost. 
- The development will cause parking problems on surrounding streets.
- Shoppers will not be able to park as easily as they do at present.
- The grassed play area will be reduced in size.
- The location of the recycling point should be reconsidered.  The existing site regularly 

becomes full/overflows and dangerous items are dumped there.  Locating it close to the 
children’s play area could be prejudicial to their safety.  

Councillor Smith has raised the following:
There are concerns from local residents including:

- Details on planned bus service provision, as bus lane has been removed
- Flood risk
- Loss of fire escapes for the current flats above the shops; is this accurate?
- Layout; am I right in understanding that there is to be a relocation of the recycling centre 

(frequently fly tipped) and car park to the land next to a child's play ground?
- Impact on the shops

I believe this area needs some regeneration to help improve the look and feel, but we need 
residents on board and for the development to take into account their thoughts and concerns.

Peterborough Civic Society has made the following comments:
‘The provision of a significant number of affordable housing by a local housing association is very 
welcome.  Hampton Court in its present form is an unattractive urban space, suffering from poor 
quality architecture, materials and lack of enclosure of a windswept corridor of space.  The 
opportunity to improve this space has been missed with this application.  A more continuous built 
form with a focal point placed closer to the access road between the shops and the proposed 
houses could achieve a better definition of space.  Positioning of the car parking for the houses on 
the east side of the proposed houses would avoid a conflict which might occur with shoppers’ 
seeking car parking.  These are suggestions only; the Civic Society does not object to the 
application.’ 

5 Assessment of the planning issues

The main considerations are:
 Principle of development
 Design and impact upon the character and appearance of the surrounding area
 Parking and highway implications
 Neighbour amenity
 Drainage
 Safety
 Future occupant amenity
 Archaeology
 Developer contributions

a) Principle of development

Housing provision and neighbourhood regeneration 

49



8

The application site, as well as the adjacent Community Centre and Health Centre are allocated 
under Policy SA3.45 of the Peterborough Site Allocations DPD (2012) for comprehensive 
redevelopment.  The allocation policy specifically states that the site forms part of a wider 
regeneration project for the Local Centre, and any development proposals are expected to provide 
housing, retail and community facilities.  

The proposal firstly seeks to redevelop the existing car park serving the Local Centre to provide 
16no. affordable residential units in a mix of tenure and size.  Under the provisions of the 
allocation, and in line with Policy CS8 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011), it is 
considered that the principle of such development is acceptable.  Such housing would not only 
accord with the vision for the allocation, but would also provide much needed affordable residential 
units in the City.  The Council’s Housing Needs Team has advised that as of 8 January 2017, the 
Council has 3,429 people on the Housing Register (those persons who are either homeless or 
eligible for social housing).  Of these, 185 are households who are presently homeless in 
temporary accommodation.  Accordingly, it is considered that there is a significant need to provide 
affordable housing and on this basis, the benefits arising from the proposal in terms of providing 
affordable housing should be afforded considerable weight.  

In addition to the proposed housing, the proposal also seeks to improve the public realm of the 
shopping parade through repaving of the central concourse and removal of existing shop front 
canopies.  It is considered that such alterations would improve the overall appearance of the Local 
Centre and be in line with the regeneration aspirations set out in policy SA3.45.  The concerns 
raised by the Peterborough Civic Society, with regards to the proposals representing a missed 
opportunity for comprehensive improvement of the area, are noted however it is considered that 
the proposed alterations would bring about a sufficient improvement.  

In addition, the concerns expressed by many local residents, regarding the loss of the canopies, 
are noted.  In relation to fire escape concerns, this matter falls within the remit of the Building 
Regulations and is not a matter for consideration under the planning system.  In any event, the 
Building Control Officer has advised that the canopies are not required for the purposes of fire 
escape and as such, their removal would not be contrary to the Building Regulations.  The loss of 
the canopies in terms of harm to the usability of the Local Centre (e.g. shoppers getting wet) is a 
material consideration however it is acknowledged that much of the Local Centre is uncovered, 
leaving shoppers open to the elements.  The removal of the canopies is not considered to 
represent a factor which would materially harm the vitality or usability of the Local Centre and as 
such, their loss is not considered to represent unacceptable harm.  

Loss of Public Open Space
Also included within the proposal is the re-provision of parking and ‘bring’ (recycling) point to the 
south-west of the Local Centre.  The proposed new car park would be situated on land designated 
as Public Open Space and forms part of an open grassed area adjacent to a designated play area.  
Under the provisions of paragraph 74 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012) and Policy 
CS19 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) there is a requirement to protect existing 
open space by restricting development which would result in the loss of such space unless there is 
already an overprovision within the area, or alternative provision is proposed.

As part of the emerging replacement Local Plan, the Peterborough Open Space Update (2016) has 
recently been published which provides an up-to-date assessment of open space provision within 
the City.  For Ravensthorpe Ward, within which the application site is situated, there is a clear 
deficiency of 5.68 hectares of equipped/designated play areas which is due to rise to 5.76 hectares 
by 2036 (the new plan period).  In light of this existing and proposed deficiency, the proposal is 
contrary to adopted policies.

However, the planning balance must consider the benefits and harm arising from the development, 
attaching weight to all of the material planning considerations.  The area of POS to be lost as a 
result of the proposal stands at approximately 0.067 hectares (665 square metres) which is 
considered to be insignificant in the context of the level of deficiency within Ravensthorpe.  

50



9

Furthermore, the land is question is currently not landscaped (e.g. only grassed) or laid out for 
formal play (i.e. there is no equipment) and it is located immediately adjacent to the service access 
for some of the Local Centre retail units.  Accordingly, it is not considered that the proposal 
represents loss of an equipped play area or high quality open space as it is not be readily usable 
for play or other recreation purposes.  

On this basis, it is considered that the level of harm is limited (attached lesser weight) and 
therefore outweighed by the considerable benefit of regeneration of the immediate locality and the 
provision of much-needed affordable housing.  

It is noted that the disposal of the POS may require a legal process which falls outside of the 
planning system (subject to further public consultation and assessment) however this is uncertain 
and it would be for the Developer to pursue.  However, any failure to dispose of the land for open 
space purposes would result in failure to implement the overall proposed development.  The loss of 
the existing car park for the new housing is only considered acceptable subject to the proposed 
new parking (see below) and any failure to provide this through other legislative controls would 
result in unacceptable development.  To address this, a condition is proposed which requires the 
new car park to be provided prior to any works beginning in respect of the redevelopment of the 
existing car park.

Recycling point
Within the existing car park is a ‘bring’ (recycling) point which is clearly well-used.  Policy CS28 of 
the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste Core Strategy DPD (2011) requires 
that all new developments make provision for such points.  It is considered that this policy also 
requires that any new development preserves and protects existing facilities which are essential to 
providing easily accessible recycling facilities for local residents.  

The proposed redevelopment of the existing car park for housing would result in the loss of the 
existing facility.  However, the proposal includes its re-provision on a small part of the existing POS 
to the south-west of the Local Centre.  The details regarding this facility have not yet been secured, 
however this results from ongoing discussions between the Developer and City Council.  It is 
considered that the final details of the facility could be secured by condition to ensure that there is 
no loss of recycling facilities for the local community.  This would therefore fully accord with Policy 
CS28.  

b) Design and impact upon the character and appearance of the surrounding area
The impacts arising in terms of the character and appearance of the surrounding area from the 
proposed public realm works (e.g. central concourse and removal of canopies) are set out above.  

Proposed housing
As detailed in Section 1 above, the application site is located at a prominent junction within 
Westwood.  Owing to its position, it has active frontages on all sides which poses a challenge in 
terms of securing an acceptable layout.  The proposal seeks to address this through the 
construction of flats on part of the site, which would have active frontages to Ivatt Way, Lutton 
Grove and Hartwell Way.  However, these flats would have an appearance of dwellings, set across 
6no. blocks with subservient connecting sections.  It is considered that this form and appearance 
would be appropriate within the context of the surrounding area.  Any development of the site will 
appear considerably different in the short-term, owing to its historic open nature as a car park.  
However, it is considered that the proposal reflects the overall parameters in terms of height and 
scale when compared to the wider locality and as such, would not appear alien or incongruous.  

With regards to the proposed houses, these would reflect and mirror the style, form and 
appearance of dwellings recently completed within the Local Centre, on the site of the former 
Public House.  The dwellings would also be of similar style to the proposed flats also, which would 
assist in ensuring that the development is holistic in its appearance.  Active frontages would be 
provided to both Wicken Way and Hartwell Way, creating a sense of enclosure to the main 
entrance to the Local Centre.  It is acknowledged that the layout of the dwellings would not allow 

51



10

for an active frontage to Ivatt Way, resulting in a 1.8 metre high wall for a length of approximately 
23 metres which will clearly be visible upon the approach into the area.  However, this would be 
sited adjacent to an area of informal green space which will assist in softening this hard 
appearance.  Furthermore, the active frontage created by the adjacent flat blocks and landscaping 
to the wider site is considered to sufficiently reduce the detrimental impact of this hard face so as 
to not result in unacceptable harm to the character and appearance of the surrounding area.  

It is noted that several objectors have raised concerns regarding the potential for rubbish and 
unkempt gardens in relation to the proposed dwellings.  These concerns have been raised in light 
of recent issues arising at the recently constructed dwellings on the former Public House site 
(Nos.1-11 Wicken Way).  These concerns are noted however a condition is to be imposed 
requiring bin storage provision for all of the proposed residential units, in accordance with the 
Council’s RECAP Waste Management Design Guide SPD (2012).  This would ensure that 
adequate on-site waste storage is provided.  The planning system cannot take into account 
potential future occupiers and must only consider the uses proposed.  Subject to the provision of 
adequate waste storage, a reason for refusal on the basis of potential future rubbish and untidy 
land could not be sustained at appeal.  

Car park and parking amendments
The proposed replacement car park would be situated on an existing part of the POS to the south-
west of the Local Centre.  The far-most extent would not project beyond the line of the opposite 
building block and as such, would not significantly encroach upon the open nature of the wider 
POS.  Whilst the replacement of open grass land with a hard surfaced expanse would result in 
some harm to the immediate locality, it is not considered that it would appear unduly prominent or 
obtrusive within the built form of the area.  Furthermore, planting is proposed to the south-western 
boundary (with the POS beyond) to soften the appearance of the hard surface.  On this basis, it is 
not considered that this element of the proposal would result in an unacceptable degree of harm to 
the visual amenity of the locality. 

Stairwell/ramp enclosures
The proposal also includes the enclosure of the external stairwells/ramps serving the existing first 
and second floor flats with railings and gates.  Whilst no details regarding the finish of these 
enclosures has been provided, the Agent has advised that the railings would be affixed to the 
existing walls and gates would be installed at the foot of the stairs.  The stairwells would not be 
fully enclosed as no roofing is proposed.  Whilst it is acknowledged that these railings and gates 
would not enhance the appearance of the Local Centre, they would considerably improve the 
security for residents of the first and second floors by preventing unauthorised access.   In addition, 
such development has previously been accepted by the Local Planning Authority elsewhere in the 
City, with a comparable example at Grove Court, Woodston.  The railing and gates are of relatively 
open design and do not appear unduly obtrusive within the streetscene. Accordingly, it is 
considered that this element of the proposal would be of overall benefit in terms of reduced crime 
and anti-social behaviour which is considered to outweigh the harm which would result to the visual 
amenity of the locality.  The final finish of these railings/gates is proposed to be secured by 
condition.

c) Parking and highway implications

Local Centre parking and access
It is noted that the main area of concern expressed by all objectors relates to the loss of the 
existing car park, insufficient re-provision within the proposed new car park, and the implications 
that would arise upon the surrounding public highway network.  

The capacity of the existing car park is unknown as there is no formally marked layout, however it 
does extend to an area of 3,060 sqm which is likely to accommodate at least 80 vehicles.  In 
addition, informal on-street parking is provided along Hartwell Way.  These bays are parallel to the 
public highway however, owing to the lack of marking, many people park in a perpendicular 
arrangement which impedes the width of the carriageway.  In total, it is considered that at least 88 

52



11

parking spaces currently exist.

The application has been accompanied by a Parking Survey. Whilst this survey was undertaken in 
2015, it is within the 2 year time period which is accepted as being up-to-date for the purposes of 
assessing the proposal.  The submitted parking survey was carried out between 07:30 and 18:30 
hours and on both a weekday and weekend day.  The maximum number of cars parked during the 
survey period was 28, with a minimum of 4 cars parked.  Further ‘spot’ surveys were then carried 
out in October and November 2016 during the evenings (19:00 to 23:00 hours) whereby 8-12 
vehicles were observed.  

The Local Highway Authority (LHA) has advised that the surveys undertaken are considered 
acceptable.  As such, the results are considered to be an adequate representation of the level of 
parking required to meet the needs of the Local Centre.  

A number of objectors have raised concerns that this parking survey does not accurately reflect the 
true level of parking which takes place within the existing car park.  However, only a handful of 
photographs which are not time or date stamped, have been provided and as such, it is not 
possible to corroborate the information provided by the objectors.  In addition, residents have 
expressed concerns that the surveys undertaken fail to take into account the lack of parking at the 
nearby Health Centre (Doctors and Dentists) and Community Centre.  However, the surveys were 
undertaken at times when these nearby facilities were in use and as such, it is considered that they 
are an accurate basis to adequately consider the level of parking demand within the area.

It should be noted that the existing car park is used by a variety of users including shoppers, 
residents, visitors, workers within the Local Centre as well as visitors to the nearby Hospital and 
workers within the adjacent industrial estate.  Notwithstanding this, in light of the submitted survey 
results, it is clear that the existing car park is not used to capacity.  

The proposal seeks to provide a replacement car park to the south-west of the Local Centre with a 
maximum capacity of 22no. spaces.  In addition, 12no. spaces are proposed to the rear of No.2-34 
Hampton Court through reconfiguration of the existing hard surfaced areas.  These new parking 
spaces, in combination with the on-street spaces which the Applicant proposes to formalise 
(through demarcation) would provide a total of 42no. spaces.  Taking into account the level of 
parking which was observed as part of the surveys undertaken, the LHA has advised that the 
proposal would make adequate re-provision of parking to serve the needs of all users of the 
existing car park. 

In light of this, the proposal would not result in undue pressure for on-street parking within the 
surrounding residential areas and accordingly, no undue impact would result to the surrounding 
highway network.  

With regards to the access to the proposed car park, this would be located off Lutton Grove.  Some 
concern has been expressed by local residents regarding the safety of this access both in terms of 
capacity within the highway and the proximity to the adjacent play area.  These concerns are noted 
however the LHA has raised no objection.  The access already exists and in light of the level of 
parking demand observed, it is not considered that the intensification of this junction would pose an 
unacceptable danger to the safety of pedestrians or motorists. 

Residential parking and access
The LHA has advised that the proposed residential units would be served by an adequate number 
of parking spaces for residents, according with adopted parking standards.  However, they have 
also advised that the proposed flats would deficient by 1no. visitor parking space.  The Applicant 
has submitted revised plans to address this, which ensures that an adequate number of both 
resident and visitor parking is provided to meet adopted standards.

With regards to vehicular access, it is proposed for the communal car parking area to the flats to 
be served by an access from Hartwell Way.  This would broadly be in the same location as the 

53



12

existing access and as such, the LHA raise no objections.  The access is of an adequate width to 
ensure two vehicles can pass one another, and the Applicant has provided revised drawings to 
ensure separate pedestrian access would be provided to the adopted highway.  

Turning next to the proposed dwellings, these would be served by private driveways off both 
Hartwell Way and Wicken Way.  The LHA has advised that these would be set a sufficient distance 
from the junction of the public highway, that no conflict would result between users of the highway 
and vehicles reversing from the private drives.  

Bus stop provision
It is noted that several objectors have raised concerns regarding the loss of the existing bus stop 
along Hartwell Way which is well used.  The proposal seeks to retain this stop in its current location 
and there would be no alteration, except potential resurfacing, to Hartwell Way which would ensure 
that the bus service continues to operate.  In addition, Officers consider it necessary to impose a 
condition requiring a Construction Management Plan to be in force, to ensure that no conflict arises 
during the period of construction.  

Public footways
At present, there is no public footway to the north-eastern side of Hartwell Way (i.e. adjacent to the 
existing car park) which results in conflict between pedestrians and motorists.  The proposal seeks 
to provide a footway along the entire length of Hartwell Way which will improve pedestrian links 
form the north towards the Local Centre.  It is considered that this represents an improvement to 
the safety of the public highway network and would pose a betterment from the existing situation.  

d) Neighbour amenity
A resident of Wicken Way has expressed concern regarding the overlooking that would result from 
the proposed dwellings.  The nearest residential dwelling on Wicken Way to the proposed 
dwellings is situated approximately 22 metres to the north.  To the south-west, the recently 
constructed dwellings on the former Public House site (Nos.1-11 Wicken Way) are sited 19.3 metre 
away and along Lutton Grove, the separation distance to the proposed flats would stand at 36.5 
metres.  This level of separation is considered to be acceptable as it would ensure no 
unacceptable degree of overlooking or loss of privacy would result to existing residents.  

Furthermore, these levels of separation are considered sufficient to prevent unacceptable levels of 
overbearing, and no overshadowing impact would result.  On this basis, the proposal would not 
give rise to unacceptable harm to the amenities of neighbouring occupants and is in accordance 
with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP3 of the 
Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012). 

e) Drainage
As the proposal constitutes ‘major’ development (more than 10 dwellings), it is a requirement that 
Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) be used to manage surface water runoff.  

The application has been accompanied by a Drainage Strategy which has identified that the 
ground conditions within and surrounding the site would not permit direct infiltration.  The junction 
of Ivatt Way/Hartwell Way adjacent to the site is subject to known critical surface water drainage 
issues which results in flooding.  As such, there is a requirement to ensure that this situation is not 
worsened.

The submitted drainage strategy identifies that at present, the existing car park results in (in a 1 in 
100 year flood event taking into account climate change) a discharge rate of 42.9 litres per second.  
The proposal seeks to attenuate surface water through a combination of rainwater harvesting 
(through water butts) and the use of permeable paving for all parking and access/driveway areas.   
Furthermore, it should be noted that the proposal would represent a net decrease in the level of 
hard surfacing within the site which reduces the area from which surface water runoff would be 
produced.  These factors would ensure that the rate of surface water discharge from the site 
following development would be attenuated to no more than 5 litres per second, which represents 

54



13

a decrease in run-off to the public sewers of some 37.9 litres per second and is welcomed by the 
City Council’s Drainage Engineer.  The significant reduction in water levels into the public sewer 
would considerably alleviate the known critical drainage issues in the area and would likely 
address some of the flooding issues.  

With regards to the construction of the new car park, the submitted Drainage Strategy identifies 
that the level of surface water runoff would increase from 0 to 7.2 litres per second.  However, the 
City Council’s Drainage Engineer has raised no objections to this in light of the overall decrease of 
surface water runoff from the application site as a whole.

On this basis, it is considered that the proposal would adequately deal with surface water runoff 
arising from the development and would represent a betterment in terms of the current situation.  
Accordingly, the proposal would not pose an unacceptable flood risk to the surrounding area and is 
therefore in accordance with Policy CS22 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011).   

f) Safety
Several objections have been received in relation to the potential conflict between the proposed 
relocated ‘bring’ (recycling) site and the adjacent children’s play area.  These concerns relate to 
the potential safety danger arising from overflowing rubbish which has resulted from the existing 
site within the car park.  

These concerns are noted however it is considered that any potential conflict could be managed by 
enclosing the bring site with fencing to ensure that there is clear barrier between the recycling bins 
and POS beyond.  Such fencing could be secured through the imposition of a condition.  It is 
considered that this would adequately mitigate any potential conflict between the two uses.  

In addition, it is not considered that there is any other suitable position in which the facility could be 
re-provided.  The recycling point needs to be readily accessed by a service vehicle when collecting 
the waste, and in close proximity to car parking to ensure that users can easily and readily bring 
waste to the collection point.  The proposal seeks to re-provide the ‘bring’ site adjacent to the 
proposed Local Centre car park which would ensure that the above requirements are met.  

g) Future occupant amenity
There is a requirement for all new residential development to afford future occupants an 
acceptable level of amenity, and ensure that new dwellings are ‘liveable’.  It is considered that the 
proposed flats and dwellinghouses would provide an acceptable level of internal space, with 
adequate levels of natural daylight.  With regards to outdoor amenity, the proposed dwellinghouses 
would each have a well-located and private garden to a size which is considered to be 
commensurate with the size of the dwellings. 

Turning to the proposed flats, it is acknowledged that these would not be afforded any private 
outdoor amenity space as all of the external areas would be subject to public access.  However, 
this is not unusual for flat developments and it is considered that the level of outdoor space 
proposed, in combination with the proximity to the nearby POS, is sufficient to ensure an 
acceptable level of ‘liveability’ for future occupants.

On this basis, the proposal would afford future occupants an acceptable level of amenity and is 
therefore in accordance with Policy PP4 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).   

h) Archaeology
The City Council’s Archaeologist has advised that the application site is located within the runway 
of the former airfield site of RAF Westwood. The airfield was used both before and during the 
Second World War, mainly as a training base for pilots.  Most of the airfield area has been covered 
by an extensive housing estate.

The area has been poorly investigated owing to this former military use and as such, the 
archaeological potential of the site is uncertain.  To ensure that the proposal does not result in 

55



14

harm to potential undiscovered heritage assets, the Archaeologist has requested that a scheme of 
evaluation be secured by condition.  Subject to such a condition, the proposal is considered to be 
in accordance with paragraph 128 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012), Policy CS17 
of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP17 of the Peterborough Planning 
Policies DPD (2012).  

i) Developer contributions
The City Council has an adopted Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) charging schedule which 
sets a flat fee contribution per square metre of residential development.  The level of this fee is 
dependent upon the charging zone within which an application site is situated.  Notwithstanding 
this charging schedule, the Council also has an adopted set of criteria whereby relief from payment 
can be claimed.   As the proposed development is for social housing, provided by a registered 
provider, and shared ownership dwellings, it is eligible for such relief and will not pay any CIL.

j) Other matters 
In response to those objections raised but not considered above:

Provision of housing elsewhere – As detailed above, the application site has been allocated as part 
of the Site Allocations process (adopted in 2012) for comprehensive redevelopment, including the 
provision of new dwellings.  

6 Conclusions

Subject to the imposition of the attached conditions, the proposal is acceptable having been 
assessed in the light of all material considerations, including weighing against relevant policies of 
the development plan and specifically:
 the proposal would represent redevelopment of the Local Centre to provide new housing, 

whilst retaining shopping and community facilities, in accordance with the vision for the site 
allocation as set out in Policy SA3.45 of the Peterborough Site Allocations DPD (2012);

 the proposal would provide much needed affordable housing to the benefit of the wider 
community, in accordance with Policy CS8 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011);

 whilst the proposed replacement car park and 'bring' site would result in the loss of designated 
Public Open Space, within an area which is presently deficient, it is considered that this POS 
is not high quality and does not afford usable play space which is where the deficiency lies. 
Accordingly, it is considered that this limited harm is outweighed by the significant benefit from 
providing affordable housing and securing regeneration of the Local Centre;

 the proposal would secure the re-provision of the existing community 'bring' (recycling) point, 
in accordance with Policy CS28 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and Waste 
Core Strategy DPD (2011);

 the proposal would not result in unacceptable harm to the character, appearance or visual 
amenity of the surrounding area, in accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core 
Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP2 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012);

 adequate parking provision would be made for the proposed housing and existing Local 
Centre (including community facilities) so as to not result in an undue impact to the 
surrounding public highway network, in accordance with Policy CS14 of the Peterborough 
Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policies PP12 and PP13 of the Peterborough Planning Policies 
DPD (2012);

 the proposal would not result in unacceptable impact to the amenities of neighbouring 
occupants, in accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) 
and Policy PP3 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012);

 the proposal would make adequate provision for surface water drainage so as to not result in 
increased flood risk elsewhere, in accordance with Policy CS22 of the Peterborough Core 
Strategy DPD (2011);

 the proposed car park and relocated 'bring' site would not pose an unacceptable danger to 
users of the adjacent play area, in accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core 
Strategy DPD (2011); 

 the proposed dwellings would provide an adequate level of amenity for future occupiers, in 

56



15

accordance with Policy PP4 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012); and
 the proposal would not result in harm to potential undiscovered buried heritage assets, in 

accordance with paragraph 128 of the National Planning Policy Framework (2012), Policy 
CS17 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP17 of the Peterborough 
Planning Policies DPD (2012). 

7 Recommendation

The Director of Growth and Regeneration recommends that Planning Permission (Regulation 4) is 
GRANTED subject to the following conditions:

C 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 
the date of this permission.

Reason: In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended).

 

C 2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the following 
drawings:

- Location Plan (drawing number CK-692-LOC)
- Topographical Survey Sheet 1 of 4 (drawing number SJG887)
- Topographical Survey Sheet 2 of 4 (drawing number SJG887)
- Topographical Survey Sheet 3 of 4 (drawing number SJG887)
- Topographical Survey Sheet 4 of 4 (drawing number SJG887)
- Site Plan (drawing number CK-692-P100 Revision A)
- Plans and Elevations - Plots 1-4 (drawing number CK-692-P101)
- Elevations - Plots 5-16 (drawing number CK-692-P102)
- Plans - Plots 5-16 (drawing number CK-692-P103)
- Street Elevations (drawing number CK-692-P104)
- Parking Spaces (drawing number CK-692-P105 Revision A)

Reason:  For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.
 

C 3 No development in respect of the dwellinghouses hereby permitted, other than 
groundworks and foundations, shall take place until samples/details of the following 
external materials to be used have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority:

- Walling (samples)
- Roofing (samples)
- Windows (details)
- Doors (details)
- Cills and lintels (details)
- Rainwater goods (details)

The samples/details submitted for approval shall include the name of the manufacturer, the 
product type, colour (using BS4800) and reference number. The development shall not be 
carried out except in accordance with the approved details. 

The materials to be used in the construction of the remedial works following removal of the 
external stairwell hereby permitted shall match those used in the existing building of Nos.2-
34 Hampton Court.

57



16

Reason:  For the Local Planning Authority to ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in 
accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy 
PP2 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 

C 4 No development shall take place until a programme of archaeological work including a 
Written Scheme of Investigation has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  No development shall take place unless in complete accordance with 
the approved scheme.  The approved scheme shall be implemented in full including any 
post development requirements e.g. archiving and submission of final reports.

Reason: To secure the obligation on the planning applicant or developer to mitigate the 
impact of their scheme on the historic environment when preservation in situ is not 
possible, in accordance with paragraphs 128 and 141 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2012), Policy CS17 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy 
PP17 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).  This is a pre-commencement 
condition because archaeological investigations will be required to be carried out before 
development begins.

 

C 5 No development shall take place until a Demolition and Construction Management Plan has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 
Management Plan shall include (but not limited to):

- Hours of working and deliveries;
- Measures to prevent conflict between delivery vehicles, access and bus services along 

Hartwell Way;
- Details of the parking and turning for all construction and delivery vehicles, including 

contractor parking;
- Operational procedures relating to the movement of site traffic and arrival of deliveries
- Pedestrian routes;
- Materials and equipment storage location;
- Site welfare compound location and design;
- A scheme of chassis and wheel cleaning for all construction vehicles, including 

contingency measures should these facilities become inoperative; 
- Measures to control the level of noise emitted from the site; and
- Measures to control dust.

Demolition and development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details 
and all vehicles exiting the site shall pass through the wheel wash facility before entering 
the public highway. 

Reason:  In the interests of highway safety and protecting the amenities of neighbouring 
occupants, in accordance with Policies CS14 and CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy 
DPD (2011) and  Policies PP3 and PP12 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD 
(2012).

 

C 6 No development in respect of the dwellinghouses hereby permitted, including site clearance 
works, shall take place until the parking spaces shown on drawing number CK-692-P105 
Revision A 'Parking Spaces' for the purposes of short-stay visitors, long-stay visitors and 
staff and associated accesses/turning areas have been drained, surfaced and marked out 
in accordance with details submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.  Thereafter, those spaces shall be retained solely for the parking of visitors, staff 
and residents associated with the Local Centre and residential units within Hampton Court 
in perpetuity.  

58



17

Reason:  To ensure that adequate parking provision is retained to meet the needs of the 
Local Centre and prevent undue impact to the surrounding public highway network, in 
accordance with Policy CS14 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policies 
PP12 and PP13 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 

C 7 Prior to first occupation of any dwellinghouse hereby permitted, the parking spaces shown 
on drawing number CK-692-P105 Revision A 'Parking Spaces' for the new houses, and 
associated access/turning areas, shall be drained, surfaced and marked out in accordance 
with details submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
Thereafter, those areas shall be retained solely for the parking, access and turning of 
vehicles in connection with the dwellinghouse to which they relate in perpetuity.  

Reason:  To ensure adequate parking provision for occupants and prevent undue impact to 
the safety of the public highway network, in accordance with Policy CS14 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policies PP12 and PP13 of the Peterborough 
Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 

C 8 Notwithstanding the drawings hereby permitted and prior to first use of the new vehicular 
accesses serving Plots 1-16, the following vehicle-to-pedestrian visibility splays shall be 
provided (measured from and along the back edge of the public highway) to both sides of 
the accesses:

- 2 metres x 2 metres for all shared accesses (i.e. serving more than 1no. dwelling); and
- 1.5 metres x 1.5 metres for all single accesses.  

Thereafter, those visibility splays shall be kept clear of any obstruction above a height of 
600mm from ground level in perpetuity.

Reason:  In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy CS14 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP12 of the Peterborough Planning 
Policies DPD (2012).

 

C 9 Prior to the commencement of any public highway works, details of the surfacing of the 
carriageway and surfacing and demarcation of the parking spaces shown on drawing 
number CK-692-P105 Revision A 'Parking Spaces' shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details.  

Reason:  In the interests of highway safety, in accordance with Policy CS14 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP12 of the Peterborough Planning 
Policies DPD (2012).

 

C10 Notwithstanding the drawings hereby approved and prior to first occupation of any 
dwellinghouse, details for secure and covered cycle parking in accordance with current 
adopted cycle parking standards, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The cycle parking shall be provided in accordance with the approved 
details and prior to first occupation of the dwellinghouse to which they relate.  Thereafter, 
the cycle parking shall be retained solely for the parking of cycles in connection with the 
dwellinghouses hereby permitted.  

Reason:  In order to promote more sustainable methods of travel, in accordance with Policy 
CS14 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP13 of the Peterborough 
Planning Policies DPD (2012).

59



18

 

C11 Prior to the commencement of development, details of the hard and soft landscaping of the 
site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The hard 
and soft landscaping details shall include (but not limited to):

- Finished ground and building slab levels;
- Hard surfacing materials
- Boundary treatments and enclosures (including walls, railings and gates);
- Street furniture including benches, bins and cycle stands;
- External lighting; and
- Planting plans including retained trees, species, numbers, size and density of planting 

for all communal and public areas (excluding private gardens).  

Development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted details and at the 
following times: 

- Hard landscaping relating to the dwellinghouses hereby permitted (boundary 
treatments, hard surfacing, external lighting and refuse bins etc.) shall be provided prior 
to first occupation of the dwellinghouse to which it relates; 

- Hard landscaping relating to all other parts of the development hereby permitted shall 
be provided in accordance with a timetable to be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority;

- Soft landscaping relating to the dwellinghouses hereby permitted shall be carried out no 
later than the first planting season following the occupation of the dwellinghouse to 
which it relates; and

- Soft landscaping relating to all other parts of the development hereby permitted shall be 
provided in accordance with a timetable to be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority.  

Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the development and to mitigate, in 
accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policies 
PP2 and PP16 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 

C12 Any trees, shrubs or hedges forming part of the approved landscaping scheme that die, are 
removed or become diseased within five years of the implementation of the landscaping 
scheme shall be replaced during the next available planting season by the developers, or 
their successors in title with an equivalent size, number and species to those being 
replaced.  Any replacement trees, shrubs or hedgerows dying within five years of planting 
shall themselves be replaced with an equivalent size, number and species.

Reason: In the interests of the visual appearance of the development and the enhancement 
of biodiversity, in accordance with Policy CS21 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD 
(2011) and Policy PP16 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 

C13 Prior to the commencement of development, a detailed surface water drainage scheme 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The scheme 
shall include (but not limited to):

- Detailed specifications and drawings of each individual drainage asset;
- Confirmation from Anglian Water that the levels of surface water runoff into the public 

sewer are acceptable; and
- Details of long-term management of drainage assets.  

Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme.

60



19

Reason:  To ensure that surface water is adequately managed and that the development 
does not result in increased flood risk elsewhere, in accordance with Policy CS22 of the 
Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011). 

 

C14 No building works which comprise the erection of a building required to be served by water 
services shall be undertaken in connection with any phase of the development hereby 
permitted until full  details of a scheme  including phasing, for the provision of mains foul 
water drainage on and off site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The development shall be implemented in accordance with the details 
approved. No building shall be occupied until the works have been carried out in 
accordance with the approved scheme.

Reason: To prevent flooding, pollution and detriment to public amenity through provision of 
suitable water infrastructure, in accordance with Policy CS22 of the Peterborough Core 
Strategy DPD (2011).

 

C15 Prior to the commencement of development, details (including a timetable for the 
installation) of the form and finish of the re-provided 'bring' (recycling) point shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 'bring' site shall 
be installed in accordance with the approved details and within a timetable to be submitted 
to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

Reason:  To ensure no loss of community recycling facilities as a result of the development, 
in accordance with Policy CS28 of the Cambridgeshire and Peterborough Minerals and 
Waste Core Strategy DPD (2011).  This is a pre-commencement development to ensure 
that a timetable for re-provision is secured before the existing facility is lost.

 

C16 No dwellinghouse hereby permitted shall be occupied until refuse storage areas have been 
provided in accordance with details submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.  The refuse storage areas shall be of a capacity which accords with the 
RECAP Waste Management Design Guide SPD (2012) and shall be retained in connection 
with the dwellinghouse to which they relate in perpetuity.  

Reason:  In the interests of future occupant amenity and highway safety, in accordance 
with Policies PP4 and PP12 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 

C17 The dwellings and flats hereby permitted shall be 'affordable housing' within the meaning of 
Annex 2: Glossary to the National Planning Policy Framework (2012) (as amended). 

Reason:  To ensure that the development accords with the Community Infrastructure Levy 
Regulations (2015) (as amended) and Policy CS8 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD 
(2011).

 

C18 Notwithstanding the provisions of Part 1 Class A of Schedule 2 of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking 
and re-enacting that Order with or without modification), no windows shall be inserted into 
the western (side) elevation of Plot 1 or northern (side) elevation of Plot 4 other than those 
expressly authorised by any future planning permission.

61



20

Reason: In order protect the amenity of the adjoining occupiers, in accordance with Policy 
CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy PP3 of the Peterborough 
Planning Policies DPD (2012).

Copy to Cllrs Murphy, Nawaz and Smith

 

62



63



This page is intentionally left blank

64



65



This page is intentionally left blank

66



1

Item 4

Planning and EP Committee 24 January 2017

Application Ref: 16/02191/HHFUL 

Proposal: Demolition of attached single garage and erection of two storey side 
extension

Site: 195 Broadway, Peterborough, PE1 4DS, 
Applicant: Mr John Peach

Agent: Mr Daniel Coulling
PDG Architects Ltd

Referred by: Head of Planning Services
Reason: The applicant is an elected member. 
Site visit: 14.12.2016

Case officer: Mr D Jolley
Telephone No. 01733 453414
E-Mail: david.jolley@peterborough.gov.uk

Recommendation: GRANT subject to relevant conditions  

1 Description of the site and surroundings and Summary of the proposal

Site and surroundings
The application site is a detached dwelling of brick and tile construction, located within the Park 
Conservation Area. The dwelling has a driveway leading to an attached garage to side with 
enclosed front garden. To the rear there is an additional garage, which is accessed via the existing 
garage which has doors to the rear, with manoeuvring taking place in the rear garden. The rear 
garden is fully enclosed.

Proposal
Permission is sought for the demolition of attached single garage, erection of two storey side 
extension to create double garage and first floor storage room.

2 Planning History

No relevant planning history

3 Planning Policy

Decisions must be taken in accordance with the development plan policies below, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise.

Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990

Section 72 - General duty as respects conservation areas in exercise of planning functions. 
The Local Planning Authority has a statutory duty to have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the Conservation Area or its setting, or any features of special architectural or historic 
interest which it possesses.

67



2

Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011)

CS16 - Urban Design and the Public Realm 
Design should be of high quality, appropriate to the site and area, improve the public realm, 
address vulnerability to crime, be accessible to all users and not result in any unacceptable impact 
upon the amenities of neighbouring residents.

CS17 - The Historic Environment 
Development should protect, conserve and enhance the historic environment including non-
scheduled nationally important features and buildings of local importance.

Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012)

PP02 - Design Quality 
Permission will only be granted for development which makes a positive contribution to the built 
and natural environment; does not have a detrimental effect on the character of the area; is 
sufficiently robust to withstand/adapt to climate change; and is designed for longevity.

PP03 - Impacts of New Development 
Permission will not be granted for development which would result in an unacceptable loss of 
privacy, public and/or private green space or natural daylight; be overbearing or cause noise or 
other disturbance, odour or other pollution; fail to minimise opportunities for crime and disorder.

PP13 - Parking Standards 
Permission will only be granted if appropriate parking provision for all modes of transport is made 
in accordance with standards.

PP17 - Heritage Assets 
Development which would affect a heritage asset will be required to preserve and enhance the 
significance of the asset or its setting.  Development which would have detrimental impact will be 
refused unless there are overriding public benefits.

4 Consultations/Representations

PCC Conservation Officer (02.12.16)
From a heritage consideration the proposed extension is supported.

Victoria Park Residents Association 
No comments received

PCC Tree Officer (16.12.16)
There are no objections to the proposal. If the application is successful and to adequately protect 
the retained trees from unintentional damage I recommend the inclusion of an informative which 
would state: 

It is recommend that Heras fencing is situated 1m outside the crown spread of any retained 
tree/shrub to protect from accidental direct damage and indirect damage through soil compaction.

Local Residents/Interested Parties 

68



3

Initial consultations: 6
Total number of responses: 1
Total number of objections: 1
Total number in support: 0

A single objection was received in relation to the proposal stating;

the 2 garage doors shown in the rear, garden elevation of the new extension- together with the 
ability to "run-through" the existing garage with doors to both front and rear, is it proposed that 
vehicles will be taken into the rear garden to access the new garage?

The submitted D & A Statement does not address this, neither do the plans show any hard 
surfacing in the rear garden. I therefore would be grateful for clarification that vehicles will not enter 
the rear garden and that the 2 new proposed "garages" are really only stores/outbuildings rather 
than intended to be used to park vehicles on a regular basis. Perhaps a Condition to this effect 
would be something you might consider

Manoeuvring cars in the rear garden would necessitate car headlights and engine noise which 
would have an adverse impact on the owner of no. 191 where I understand that the bedrooms are 
at the eastern end of this bungalow.

5 Assessment of the planning issues

The main considerations are;

 The impact of the proposal on the character of the Park Conservation Area
 The impact of the proposal on the setting of a locally listed building
 The impact of the proposal on the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring dwellings

The impact of the proposal on the character of the Park Conservation Area
The roof of the proposed garage will be visible from the front of property as one travels along 
Broadway from the west. Much of the bulk of the garage roof will be screened by the local listed 
substation directly in from of the proposed garage. The garage is set back 10 metres from the 
public realm and will not be prominent or incongruous within the streetscene.

The extension itself is appropriately detailed and incorporates features such as the shaped barge 
boards found on the host dwelling. The applicant proposes to use matching materials, which is 
considered to be the correct approach in this instance.

The Conservation Officer has raised no objection to the proposal and has stated that the work will 
not unacceptably harm the character of the Park Conservation Area.

The impact of the proposal on the setting of a locally listed building
The proposed extension will be partially visible to the rear of the locally listed building in some 
views from Broadway.  The roof of the extension will be the main visible feature and its uniformity 
will not draw the eye unduly form the locally listed building.  The design of the roof has meant that 
much of it will be screened by the locally listed building itself and it is considered that the roof 
scape will not appear bulky or incongruous.

The Conservation Officer has raised no objection to the proposal and has stated that the work will 
not significantly detract from the setting and an appreciation of the locally listed building.

The impact of the proposal on the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring dwellings
The existing garage to the side of the large existing brick built garage has deteriorated and is in 
need of replacement. This garage is reached through the brick built garage connected to the host 

69



4

dwelling. The existing patio area to the rear of the dwelling is used as a manoeuvring area. This a 
historical arrangement, that has been in existence for some time, given the age of the garage to be 
demolished and the doors to the rear of the brick built garage. It is also noted that no permission 
would have been required to create this run through to the brick built garage. 

The proposal will bring the garage closer to the boundary of 191 Broadway. This may result in 
slightly increased noise from manoeuvring and disturbance from headlights as stated by the 
objector, however, it is considered that these detriments are unlikely to be materially harmful and in 
essence is very similar in principle to the existing arrangement. It is noted that the boundary 
between the application site and 191 Broadway is a close board fence which should screen the 
majority of any headlight illumination.

The garage itself is located close to the boundary shared with 191 Broadway and is relatively tall, 
with an eave height of 3.0 metres. However these dwelling have south facing gardens and the level 
of morning overshadowing caused by the garage is not considered to be materially harmful and is 
unlikely to unacceptable overshadow the primary habitable room windows of the neighbour. The 
neighbour has a side window that faces towards the garage but this is located 10 metres from the 
proposed garage and as such it is considered that the garage will not be unacceptably overbearing 
when viewed from this window. Although some loss of outlook is noted, it is not severe enough to 
warrant the refusal of the application. The 1st floor window will not permit unacceptable 
overlooking of neighbouring amenity space.

Given that the proposal only expands upon what is an existing arrangement the Local Planning 
Authority are of the view that it is not reasonable or necessary to impose conditions limiting the use 
of the garage and that the proposal will not be materially worse for nearby neighbours in terms of 
noise disturbance and nuisance from headlights.

Other matters
Much of the rear garden and the trees within appear to be outside of the Conservation Area and as 
such do not benefit from statutory protection. Notwithstanding this, the submitted plans indicate no 
trees for removal and it is unlikely that these trees will be significantly impacted upon by the 
development. The Tree Officer has raised no objection to the proposal but has requested an 
informative that retained trees are protected by fencing. This informative has been added to the 
decision notice.

A single objection was received in relation to the proposal, some of the points raised have already 
been addressed within this report. The objector also requested a revised plan showing the extent 
of the existing and proposed manoeuvring area to the rear of the dwelling. This was subsequently 
submitted by the applicant.

In order to preserve the character of the conservation area, permitted development rights for the 
insertion of roof windows will be removed by way of condition.

6 Conclusions

Subject to the imposition of the attached conditions, the proposal is acceptable having been 
assessed in the light of all material considerations, including weighing against relevant policies of 
the development plan and specifically:
- `The proposal will not unacceptably harm the character of the Park Conservation Area, setting of 
a locally listed building or the amenity of the occupiers of neighbouring dwellings; in accordance 
with policies CS16 and CS17 of the Peterborough Core Strategy (DPD) 2011 and policies PP2, 
PP3, PP12 and PP17 of the Peterborough Planning Policies (DPD) 2012 and section 73 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act (Conservation Areas).

7 Recommendation

70



5

The Director of Growth and Regeneration recommends that Planning Permission is GRANTED 
subject to the following conditions:

 

C 1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from 
the date of this permission.

Reason: In accordance with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended).

 

C 2 The development shall be carried out in accordance with drawings; 16051/PL01A and 
16051/L(--) 01B.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt.
 

C 3 The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the garage hereby 
permitted shall match those used in the existing building.

Reason: For the Local Planning Authority to ensure a satisfactory external appearance, in 
accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and Policy 
PP2 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 

C 4 Notwithstanding the provisions of Part 1 Class C of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-
enacting that Order with or without modification), no windows shall be inserted into front 
and side facing roof slope of the permitted extension other than those expressly authorised 
by this permission or those expressly authorised by any future planning permission.

Reason: In order protect the amenity of the adjoining occupiers or the visual amenity of the 
area, in accordance with Policy CS16 of the Peterborough Core Strategy DPD (2011) and 
Policies PP2 and PP3 of the Peterborough Planning Policies DPD (2012).

 
 
Informatives

1 It is recommend that Heras fencing is situated 1m outside the crown spread of any retained
tree/shrub to protect from accidental direct damage and indirect damage through soil
compaction.

Copy to Cllrs Ferris, Peach and Shearman

71



This page is intentionally left blank

72


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the Meeting Held on 29 November 2016
	5.1 16/01498/FUL - Golden Lion 5 - 7 Church Street, Stanground, Peterborough
	5.1   16.01498.FUL Golden Lion FINAL

	5.2 16/02087/HHFUL - Forge Cottage, 10 The Green, Glinton, Peterborough
	5.2  16 02087 HHFUL Forge Cottage 10 the Green FINAL

	5.3 16/02184/R4FUL - Car Park, Hampton Court, Westwood, Peterborough
	5.3 16.02184.R4  Car Park Hampton Court Westwood Peterborough REPORT
	5.3  16.02184.R4FUL - Hampton Court - CRITICAL DRAINAGE

	5.4 16/02191/HHFUL - 195 Broadway, Peterborough, PE1 4DS
	5.4 16.02191.HHFUL 195 Broadway REPORT


